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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Members of Brainbees Solutions Limited
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Brainbees Solutions Limited (‘the Holding
Company’) and its subsidiaries (the Holding Company and its subsidiaries together referred to as ‘the Group'), as
listed in Appendix 1, which comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2025, the Consolidated
Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the Consalidated Cash Flow Statement and
the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and based on the
consideration of the reports of the other auditors on separate financial statements and on the other financial
information of the subsidiaries the aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the information required by the
Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian
Accounting Standards (‘Ind AS') specified under section 133 of the Act, read with the Companies (Indian Accounting
Standards) Rules, 2015, and other accounting principles generally accepted in India of the consolidated state of
affairs of the Group, as at 31 March 2025, and their consolidated loss (including other comprehensive income)
consolidated cash flows and the consolidated changes in equity for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing specified under section 143(10) of the Act.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group, in accordance with the
Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India ('ICAI') together with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the rules
thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained together with the audit evidence obtained by
the other auditors in terms of their reports referred to in paragraph 15 of the Other Matters section below is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matter

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment and based on the consideration of the reports
of the other auditors on separate financial statements of the subsidiaries were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consclidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.
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5. We have determined the matter described below to be the key audit matter to be communicated in our report.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition

Refer note 3(h) of the Consolidated Financial Statements
for material accounting policy information on revenue
recognition and note 34 for the details of revenue
recognised during the year.

The Group generates revenue from sale of traded goods
and finished goods through a large number of Group
owned retail outlets, franchisee outlets, e-commerce
portals and wholesale business across the country which
comprises of high volume of transactions.

The Group recognises the revenue from customers in
accordance with Ind AS 115 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Ind AS 115) when the performance
obligation is satisfied, which is determined to be at a point
in time when the customer obtains control of the goods in
accordance with the terms of contracts with the
customers. Also, recognition of revenue requires
determination of the net selling price after considering
forecast of sales returns and discounts. The estimate of
sales returns and discounts depends on the Group’s
return policy, contract terms, forecast of sales volumes
and past history of quantum of return.

There is a risk of inappropriate revenue recognition for
sales conducted through retail outlets on a cash-and-
carry basis due to high volume and frequency of
transactions. Revenue is determined to be an area
involving significant risk in line with the requirements of
the Standards on Auditing and hence, requiring
significant auditor attention.

In view of the above complexities involved and
considering the volume of transactions and significance
of the amount involved, revenue recognition is
determined as a key audit matter for current year audit.

Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition
included, but was not limited to, the follawing
procedures:

¢ Assessed the appropriateness of the accounting
policy for revenue recognition in accordance with
Ind AS 115.

* Evaluated the design and implementation of key
financial controls and tested their operating
effectiveness with respect to revenue recognition
process. This evaluation includes test of IT general
controls and key application controls over the IT
system which impact revenue recognition.,

= Tested the operating effectivenass of IT dependent
manual controls.

» Tested the sale transactions on a sample basis, by
examining the underlying documents such as sales
invoice, customer contracts, shipping/dispatch
documents along with proof of delivery and agreeing
them with the cash / credit card / online receipts.

e Evaluated the Group’s policy for returns and
performed an analysis of trend for sales return in
case of business and tested appropriateness of the
provision for sales return as at the year-end.

e Performed cut-off procedures, on sample basis for
the period before and after the year end by testing
the underlying documents and ensured that the
revenue is recognised in the correct period.

e Tested manual journal entries impacting revenue
including credit notes, claims etc., selected on a risk-
based criteria by inspecting supporting documents
and understanding business rationale, where
necessary.

e Forsales made to franchisee partners, we performed
substantive testing on selected samples of revenue
transactions by inspecting relevant underlying
documents including sales invoices and contracts
with franchisees in order to ensure revenue is
booked with correct amount and only upon
satisfaction of performance obligation basis the
terms of such contracts.

¢ Performed analytical review procedures on revenue
recognized during the year to identify any unusual
and/or material variances such as data analytics and
trend analysis.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

s« Performed confirmation procedures on selected
balances outstanding as at the year end.

Ensured the adequacy and appropriateness of
disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with the requirements of Ind
AS 115,

Information other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report thereon

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the Annual Report but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon. The Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor's
report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated.

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to
communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Holding Company's Board of
Directors, The Holding Company's Board of Directors are responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the
Act with respect to the preparation and presentation of these consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position, consolidated financial performance including other comprehensive
income, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group in accordance with the Ind AS
specified under section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, and
other accounting principles generally accepted in India. The Holding Company’s Board of Directors are also
responsible for ensuring accuracy of records including financial information considered necessary for the preparation
of consolidated Ind AS financial statements. Further, in terms of the provisions of the Act the respective Board of
Directors of the companies included in the Group, and covered under the Act are responsible for maintenance of
adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Group
and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities: selection and application of appropriate accounting
policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and
completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that
give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. These financial

statements have been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements by the Board of
Directors of the Holding Company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of the companies included in
the Group are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of
Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those respective Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the
companies included in the Group.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Standards on Auditing specified under section 143(10) of the Act we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

* lIdentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

« Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act we are also responsible for expressing our
opinion on whether the Holding Company has adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.:

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management

» Conclude on the appropriateness of Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern;

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation: and

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group, to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of financial statements of such entities included in
the consolidated financial statements, of which we are the independent auditors. For the other entities included
in the consolidated financial statements, which have been audited by the other auditors, such other auditors

remain responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audits carried out by them. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing

of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our

report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.
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Other Matters

We did not audit the financial statements/ consolidated financial statements of 3 subsidiaries, 20 step-down
subsidiaries, a LLP and 2 controlled trusts whose financial statements reflects total assets of 2 22,377.34 million as
at 31 March 2025, total revenues of Z 29,313.79 million and net cash outflows amounting to ¥ 859.23 million for the
year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated financial statements whose financial statements have not
been audited by us. These financial statements have been audited by other auditors whose reports have been
furnished to us by the management and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, in so far as it relates
to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries, step-down subsidiaries, a LLP and
controlled trusts, and our report in terms of sub-section (3) of section 143 of the Act in so far as it relates to the
aforesaid subsidiaries, step-down subsidiaries, a LLP and controlled trusts, are based solely on the reports of the
other auditors.

Further, of these subsidiaries, step-down subsidiaries, LLP and controlled trust a subsidiary and 3 step-down
subsidiaries are located outside India whose financial statements and other financial information have been prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in their respective countries and which have been
audited by other auditors under generally accepted auditing standards applicable in their respective countries. The
Holding Company’s management has converted the financial statements of such subsidiaries located outside India
from accounting principles generally accepted in their respective countries to accounting principles generally
accepted in India. We have audited these conversion adjustments made by the Holding Company’s management.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included
in respect of such subsidiaries, located outside India, is based on the report of other auditors and the conversion
adjustments prepared by the management of the Holding Company and audited by us.

Our opinion above on the consolidated financial statements, and our report on other legal and regulatory requirements
below, are not modified in respect of the above matters with respect to our reliance on the work done by and the
reports of the other auditors.

We did not audit the financial statements of a subsidiary and 2 step-down subsidiaries whose financial statements
reflects total assets of  924.94 million as at 31 March 2025, total revenues of # 833.64 million and net cash outflows
amounting to ¥ 22.95 million for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated financial statements.
These financial statements are unaudited and have been furnished to us by the management and our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of the
aforesaid subsidiary, step-down subsidiaries is based solely on such unaudited financial statements. In our opinion

and according to the information and explanations given to us by the management, these financial statements are
not material to the Group.

Our opinion above on the consolidated financial statements, and our report on other legal and regulatory requirements
below, are not modified in respect of the above matter with respect to our reliance on the financial statements certified
by the management.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by section 197(16) of the Act, based on our audit and on the consideration of the reports of the other
auditors, referred to in paragraph 15, on separate financial statements of the subsidiaries, we report that the Holding
Company, its subsidiaries incorporated in India whose financial statements have been audited under the Act have
paid remuneration to their respective directors during the year in accordance with the provisions of and limits laid
down under section 197 read with Schedule V to the Act.

As required by clause (xxi) of paragraph 3 of Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2020 (‘the Order’) issued by the
Central Government of India in terms of section 143(11) of the Act based on the consideration of the Order reports
issued till date by us and by the respective other auditors as mentioned in paragraph 15 above, of companies included
in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 and covered under the Act we report that:
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Following are the qualifications/adverse remarks reported by us and the other auditors in the Order reports of the
companies included in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 for which such Order

reports have been issued till date and made available to us:

S Name CIN Holding/ Clause number of the
No Subsidiary | CARO report which is
Company | qualified or adverse
1 Better & Brighter Homecare U24139WB2009PTC135807 | Subsidiary | (Vii)
Private Limited
2 Butternut Ventures Private U15500MH2020PTC344952 | Subsidiary | (Vii) & (Xvii)
Limited
3 HS Fitness Private Limited U71200HR2013PTC050241 | Subsidiary | (ii), (Vii), (Xvii) & (Xix)
4 | Swara Baby Products Private U36999MP2016PTC068986 | Subsidiary | (ii), (iii) & (Vii)
Limited
5 | Wellspire India Private Limited U52390MH2021PTC370225 | Subsidiary | (Vii), (Xvii) & (Xix)
6 Candes Technology Private U31908DL2021PTC376160 | Subsidiary | (i), (Vii), (ix), (Xvii) &
Limited (Xix)
7 Cloud Lifestyle Private Limited U24100GJ2017PTC097708 | Subsidiary | (Vii) & (Xvii)
8 Dynamic IT Solution Private U52399DL2002PTC117546 | Subsidiary | (Vii) & (Xvii)
Limited
9 Maxinique Solution Private U52339HR2020PTC090918 | Subsidiary | (Vii)
Limited
10 | Merhaki Foods and Nutrition U24100RJ2017PTC059188 | Subsidiary | (ii), (iii), (Vii), (ix) & (Xvii)
Private Limited
11 | Mush Textile Private Limited U17303GJ2018PTC101321 | Subsidiary | (Vii)
12 | Firmroots Private Limited U15400KA2016PTC086485 | Subsidiary | (Xvii)
13 | Eyezen Technologies Private U74999MH2016PTC282804 | Subsidiary (Vii), (Xvii) & (Xix)
Limited
‘14 | Frootle India Private Limited U74999MH2019PTC332657 | Subsidiary | (vii)
15 | Swara Hygiene Private Limited U24246MP2022PTC061559 | Subsidiary | (ii) & (Vii)
16 | Digital Age Retail Private Limited | U52100PN2011PTC139221 | Subsidiary | (i), (Vii) & (iX)
17 | Globalbees Brands Private U24299DL2021PTC380760 | Subsidiary | (Xvii)
Limited
18 | Brainbees Solutions Private U51100PN2010PLC136340 | Holding (iii)
Limited
19 | Solis Hygiene Private Limited U17100MP2020PTC053997 | Subsidiary | (ix)
20 | Kubermart Private Limited U51909RJ2020PTC067933 Subsidiary | (Vii
21 | Solarista Renewables Private U15121HR2018PTC075842 | Subsidiary | (Vii) & (Xvii)
Limited [
22 | Encasa Homes Private Limited U52100MH1983PTC406756 | Subsidiary | (Vii) & (Xvii)
23 | Kitchenopedia Appliances Private | U31909HR2022PTC103777 | Subsidiary | (Vi) & (Xvii)
Limited
24 | Prayosha Expo Private Limited U52100GJ2011PTC065612 | Subsidiary | (iii) & (Vii)
25 | Plantex Ecommerce Private U28129GJ2020PTC115183 | Subsidiary | (XiV)
Limited
26 | JW Brands Private Limited U18109KA2020PTC132453 | Subsidiary | (Vii)

19. As required by section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit and on the consideration of the report s of the other
auditors on separate financial statements and other financial information of the subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures incorporated in India whose financial statements have been audited under the Act, we report, to the extent
applicable, that:

a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief
were necessary for the purpose of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated financial statements;
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Except for the possible effects of the matters stated in paragraph 19(h)(vi) below on reporting under Rule 11(g)
of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 (as amended), in our opinion, proper books of account as
required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid consolidated financial statements have been kept so far
as it appears from our examination of those books and the reports of the other auditors;

The consolidated financial statements dealt with by this report are in agreement with the relevant books of
account maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements;

In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with Ind AS specified under section 133
of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015:

On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Holding Company, its subsidiaries
and taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company, its subsidiaries and the reports of the
statutory auditors of its subsidiaries covered under the Act, none of the directors of the Holding Company, its
subsidiaries are disqualified as on 31 March 2025 from being appointed as a director in terms of section 164(2)
of the Act.

The qualification/adverse remark relating to the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith
with respect to the consolidated financial statements are as stated in paragraph 18(b) above on reporting under
section 143(3)(b) of the Act and paragraph 19(h)(vi) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 (as amended):

With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of the
Holding Company, and its subsidiaries covered under the Act, and the operating effectiveness of such controls,
refer to our separate report in ‘Annexure A’ wherein we have expressed an unmodified opinion; and

With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with rule 11 of the
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 (as amended), in our opinion and to the best of our information
and according to the explanations given to us and based on the consideration of the report of the other auditors
on separate financial statements and other financial information of the subsidiaries incorporated in India whose
financial statements have been audited under the Act:

i. The consolidated financial statements disclose the impact of pending litigations on the consolidated
financial position of the Group, as detailed in Note 46 to the consolidated financial statements;

i The Holding Company, its subsidiaries did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts
for which there were any material foreseeable losses as at 31 March 2025 ;

ii. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and Protection
Fund by the Holding Company, and its subsidiaries covered under the Act, during the year ended 31 March
2028 ;

a. The respective managements of the Holding Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in India
whose financial statements have been audited under the Act have represented to us and the other
auditors of such subsidiaries respectively that, to the best of their knowledge and belief on the date
of this audit report as disclosed in note 58 to the consolidated financial statements, no funds have
been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or securities premium or any
other sources or kind of funds) by the Holding Company or its subsidiaries to or in any person(s) or
entity(ies), including foreign entities (‘the intermediaries’), with the understanding, whether recorded
in writing or otherwise, that the intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in
other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Holding
Company, or any such subsidiaries (‘the Ultimate Beneficiaries’) or provide any guarantee, security
or the like on behalf the Ultimate Beneficiaries:

b. The respective managements of the Holding Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in India
whose financial statements have been audited under the Act have represented to us and the other
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auditors of such subsidiaries respectively that, to the best of their knowledge and belief on the date
of this audit report as disclosed in the note 58 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements, no funds have been received by the Holding Company or its subsidiaries from any
person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (‘the Funding Parties’), with the understanding,
whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Holding Company, or any such subsidiaries shall,
whether directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner
whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (‘Ultimate Beneficiaries’) or provide any guarantee,
security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries; and

c. Based on such audit procedures performed by us and that performed by the auditors of the
subsidiaries as considered reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances, nothing has come to
our or other auditors’ notice that has caused us or the other auditors to believe that the management
representations under sub-clauses (a) and (b) above contain any material misstatement.

The Holding Company, its subsidiaries have not declared or paid any dividend during the year ended
31 March 2025.

As stated in Note 60 to the consolidated financial statements and based on our examination which included
test checks and that performed by the respective auditors of the subsidiaries, except for matters mentioned
below, the Holding Company and its subsidiaries in respect of financial year commencing on 1 April 2024,
have used accounting software for maintaining their books of account which have a feature of recording
audit trail (edit log) facility and the same have been operated throughout the year for all relevant
transactions recorded in the software. Further, during the course of our audit we and respective auditors of
the above referred subsidiaries did not come across any instance of audit trail feature being tampered with,
other than the consequential impact of the exceptions given below. Furthermore except for matters
mentioned below the audit trails have been preserved by the Holding Company and its subsidiaries as per
the statutory requirements for record retention.

Nature of exception noted Details of Exception

Instances of accounting software for maintaining | The audit trail (edit logs) was not retained for the
books of account for which the feature of recording period 01 April 2024 to 12 June 2024 at the
audit trail (edit log) facility was not operated | @pplication and database level for the

throughout the year for all relevant transactions ACCOUTINNG SaMAR B log any dlrec§ data
; changes used for maintenance of Brainbees
recorded in the software

Solutions Limited and Digital Age Retail Private
Limited records.

Instances of accounting software maintained by a | The accounting software used for maintenance
third party where we are unable to comment on the | of Globalbees Brands Private Limited, Firmroots
audit trail feature at database level Private Limited and Solis Hygiene Private
Limited records is operated by a third-party
software service provider. In the absence of any
information on existence of audit trail (edit logs)
for any direct changes made at the database
level in the ‘Independent Service Auditor's
Assurance Report on the Description of
Controls, their Design and Operating
Effectiveness’ (Type 2 report’ issued in
accordance with SAE 3402, Assurance Reports
on Controls at a Service Organization), we and
respective auditors of the above referred
subsidiaries are unable to comment on whether
audit trail feature with respect to the database of
the said software was enabled and operated

throughout the year.
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Nature of exception noted

Details of Exception

Instances of accounting software for maintaining
books of account for which the feature of recording
audit trail (edit log) facility was operated throughout
the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the
software with an exception in relation to maintaining
books of account with respect to branch

The accounting software used for maintenance
of Swara Baby Products Private Limited records
did not capture the audit trail (edit log) details of
a branch from 01 April 2024 to 04 December
2024.

Instances of non-preservation of the audit trail

The audit trail pertaining to financial year from
01 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 have not been
preserved for Kubermart Private Limited as per
the statutory requirements for record retention.

For Walker Chandiok & Co LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration No.: 001076N/N500013

/

Shashi Tadwalkar
Partner
Membership No.: 101797

UDIN: 25101797BMMAKX2147

Place: Pune
Date: 26 May 2025
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Annexure A

Independent Auditor's Report on the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements under
Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’)

1. In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of Brainbees Solutions Limited (‘the
Holding Company’) and its subsidiaries (the Holding Company and its subsidiaries together referred to as
‘the Group'), as at and for the year ended 31 March 2025, we have audited the internal financial controls
with reference to financial statements of the Holding Company, its subsidiary companies which are
companies covered under the Act, as at that date.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for Internal Financial Controls

2. The respective Board of Directors of the Holding Company, its subsidiary companies which are companies
covered under the Act, are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on
the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements criteria established by the Company
considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal
Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. These
responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls
that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of the Company’s business,
including adherence to the Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection
of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation
of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditor’'s Responsibility for the Audit of the Internal Financial Controls with Reference to Financial
Statements

3. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements of the Holding Company, its subsidiary companies as aforesaid, based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India (‘ICAI') prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit
of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, and the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal
Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (‘the Guidance Note') issued by the ICAI. Those Standards and
the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements were established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

4. QOur audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements includes obtaining an understanding of such internal
financial controls, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend
on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error.

5. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit evidence obtained by the other auditors
in terms of their reports referred to in the Other Matter paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion on the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements
of the Holding Company, its subsidiary companies as aforesaid.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to Financial Statements

6. Acompany's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements include those policies and procedures that
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
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Walker Chandiok & Co LLP

only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to Financial Statements

7

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements,
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements
due to error or fraud may accur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements may become inadequate because of changes
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

8.

In our opinion and based on the consideration of the reports of the other auditors on internal financial controls
with reference to financial statements of the subsidiary companies, the Holding Company, its subsidiary
companies which are companies covered under the Act, have in all material respects, adequate internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements and such controls were operating effectively as at 31
March 2025, based on the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements criteria established
by the Company considering the essential components of internal contral stated in the Guidance Note on
Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of India.

Other Matter

9.

We did not audit the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements insofar as it relates to 8
step subsidiary companies, which are companies covered under the Act, whose financial statements reflect
total assets of ¥ 13,911.23 million and net assets of ¥ 5,930.34 million as at date of Balance sheet, total
revenues of ¥ 17,447.76 million and net cash outflows amounting to ¥ 43.12 million for the year ended on
that date, as considered in the consolidated financial statements. The internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements in so far as it relates to such subsidiary companies have been audited by
other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us by the management and our report on the adequacy
and operating effectiveness of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements for the
Holding Company, its subsidiary companies as aforesaid, under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act in so far as it
relates to such subsidiary companies is based solely on the reports of the auditors of such companies. QOur
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter with respect to our reliance on the work done by and on the
reports of the other auditors.

For Walker Chandiok & Co LLP
Chartered Accountants

Firm's

Registration No.: 001076N/N500013

%{&Nﬂu/t/

Shashi Tadwalkar
Partner
Membership No.: 101797

UDIN:

25101797BMMAKX2147

Place: Pune
Date: 26 May 2025

Page 11 of 11




Brainbees Solutions Limited (formerly known as Brainbees Solutions Private Limited)

Consolidated Balancesheet as at March 31, 2025
(All amounts in Rupees million, unless otherwise stated)

Note As at Asat
Particulars
No. March 31, 2025 ___March 31, 2024
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 4 7.296.84 6,691.57
Capital work-in-progress 4 68.22 5.05
Right of use asset 5 9,477.89 9,008.81
Goodwill 6 7,781.54 7,781.54
Other intangible assets 7 11,536.16 15,197.68
Intangible assets under development 7 0.05 0.30
Financial assets
(a) Investments 8 50.08 50.08
(b) Other financial assets 10 1,602.98 946.20
Deferred tax assets 12 1,878.22 1,897.42
Income tax assets (net) 13 263.04 324.99
Other non-current assets 16 3,306.21 2,665.03
Total non-current assets, 43,261.23 44,568.67
Current assets
Inventories 18 21,304.78 16,294.62
Financial assets
(a) Investments g 0.05/ 0.07
(b) Trade receivables 19 2,825.16 2,184.07
(c) Cash and cash equivalents 20 2,7111.72 3,616.96|
(d) Bank balances other than (c) above 21 14,344.01 3,120.91
(e) Loans 15 0.21 360.82]
(f) Other financial assets 11 556.41 791.91
Other current assets 17 3,575.06 4,165.80
Total current assets 45,317.40 30,535.16
Total assets 88,578.63! 75,103.83
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity share capital 22 964.93 814,71
Equity component of compulsorily convertible preference shares 23 - 70.37
Other equity 24 46,449.31 30,822.28
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 47,414.24 31,707.36!
Non-Controlling interests 25 5,387.84| 6,207.17
Total equity 52,802.08 37,914.53)
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities
(a) Borrowings 26 2,099.89 2,294.60
(b) Lease liabilities 5 8,891.16 8,482.77,
(c) Other financial liabilities 27 1,053.18 7,085.52|
Provisions 29 322.39 249.44
Deferred tax liabilities 12 2,145.34 2,845.15|
Other non-current liabilities 32 566.27 541.15
Total non-current liabilities 15,078.23 21,498.63
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
{a) Borrowings 26 3,432.80 2,332.62
(b) Lease Liabilities 5 1,275.44 1,115.48
(c) Trade payables
Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 31 1,197.24 874.86
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises 31 8,079.27 8,204.60
(d) Other financial liabilities 28 4,062.84 1,268.23
Other current liabilities 33 2,557.89 1,782.52
Provisions 30 76.53 56.58|
Current tax liabilities (net) 14 16.31] 55.78|
Total current liabilities 20,698.32 15,690.67
Total equity and liabilities B88,578.63 75,103.83
Summary of material accounting policy information 2-3
See accompanying notes forming integral part of these financial statements 4 -60

As per our report of even date attached
for Walker Chandiok & Co LLP

Chartered Accountants
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Managing Director
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Director
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Brainbees Solutions Limited (formerly known as Brainbees Solutions Private Limited)
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2025
(All amounts in Rupees million, unless otherwise stated)

Barticulais Note For the year ended For the year ended
. No. March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Income
Revenue from operations 34 76,596.14 64,808.56
Other income 35 1,504.77 942.25
Total income 78,100.91 65,750.81
Expenses
Cost of materials consumed 36 7,317.78 5,574.65
Purchases of stock-in-trade 37 45,350.07 38,898.87
Changes in inventories of stock-in-trade, finished goods and work in progress 38 {4,682.12) (2,841.56)
Employee benefits expense
(i) Employee benefits expense 39 5,741.92 5,084.21
(i) Employee share based payment expense 40 1,542.46 1,780.58
Finance costs 41 1,583.26 1,153.63
Depreciation and amortisation expense 42 4,045.67 3,708.73
Other expenses 43 19,026.29 15,606.90
Total expenses 79,925.33 68,966.01
Loss before tax and before exceptional items and income tax (1,824.42) (3,215.20)
Exceptional items income (net) 59 (495.53) -
Loss before tax (2,319.95) (3,215.20)
Tax expense
Current tax 44 (351.15) (438.05)
Deferred tax 44 23.03 438.18
Total tax expense (328.12) 0.13
Loss for the year (2,648.07) (3,215.07)
Other comprehensive income (OCl)
Items that will not be reclassified to Statement of Profit or Loss
Re-measurement of post-employment benefit obligations 48 {3.71) 3.09
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to Statement of Profit or Loss
Income tax relating to re-measurement of post-employment benefit obligations 1.32 {0.56)
Items that will be reclassified to Statement of Profit or Loss
Gains and losses arising from translating the financial statements of a foreign operation 32.01 (10.96)
Income tax relating to items that will be reclassified to Statement of Profit or Loss
Income tax relating to gains and losses arising from translating the financial statements of a foreign operation (8.06) 1.83
Total other comprehensive income 21.56 6.60,
Total comprehensive loss for the year {2,626.51) (3,221.67)
Loss for the year
Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (1,914.67) (2,742.77)
Non-controlling interests (733.40) (472.30)
(2,648.07) (3,215.07)
Total other comprehensive (loss)/income
Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 21.04 (8.02)
Non-controlling interests 0.52 1.42
21.56 (6.60)
Total comprehensive loss for the year
Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (1,893.63) {2,750.79)
Non-controlling interests (732.88) (470.88)
(2,626.51) (3,221.67)
Earning per share
Basic earning per share (INR) 45 (4.11) (6.20)
Diluted earning per share {INR) 45 {4.11) (6.20)
Summary of material accounting policy information 2-3
See accompanying notes forming integral part of these financial statements 4-60
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Jfor Walker Chandiok & Co LLP

Chartered Accountants
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Brainbees Solutions Limited (formerly known as Brainbees Solutions Private Limited)
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the yead ended March 31, 2025
{All amounts in Rupees million, unless otherwise stated)

2 Note For the year ended For the year ended
Fanicits No. March 31, 2025 March 31, 2023
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax (2,319.95) (3,215.20)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 42 1,232.16 1,169.48
Amortisation of other intangible assets 42 1,055.73 1,087.03
Impairment of intangible assets 7,59 2,634,94 -
Amortisation of right of use assets 42 1,757.78 1,452.22
Employee share based payment expense 40 1,542.46 1,780.58
Loss on account of fire at warehouse (net of gain on insurance claim receipt) 125.22 =
Bad debts written off 59 107.01 -
Net Loss on Sale of Property Plant & Equipments 48.41 -
Gain on fair valuation of financial liabilities and assets 59 (1,736.53) -
(Gain)/Loss on termination of leases #REF! (180.15) 78.85
Unrealised foreign currency (gain)/loss 26.39 (15.28)
Interest income on fixed deposits with banks 35 (814.34) (412.22)
Interest income on others 35 (106.07) (106.84)
Finance costs 41 1,583.26 1,153.63
Operating Profit before working capital changes 4,956.32 2,972.25
Working capital changes
(Increase)/Decrease in trade receivables (748.10) 67.23
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories (5,208.39) (3,434.59)
Increase in other financial assets 46,95 (1,023.38)
Decrease/(Increase) in other non-current assets (1,305.50) 124.65
Increase in other current assets 590.74 {1,563.34)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade payables 197.05 1,700.75
Increase in other current and Non-current liabilities 800.49 754.64
Increase in provisions 89.19 71.64
(Decrease)/Increase in current and non-current financial liabilities 75.47 374.41
Cash generated (used in)/from operating activities (505.78) 44.26
Income tax refund/(paid) (328.67) (464.99)
Net cash used in operating activities (834.45) [420.73!
Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (2,025.52) (3,404.86)
Acquisition of intangible assets (28.89) (24.59)
Purchase of Leasehald land (180.15) -
Proceeds from insurance claim for property, plant and equipment due loss by fire 149.54 -
Acquisition of other investments - (50.02)
Investments in Bank deposits (36,047.61) (17,669.40)
Proceeds from Bank depasits 24,530.13 23,851.06
Acquisition of subsidiaries (1,576.68) (2,669.17)
Loan to Employees 360.61 60.15
Interest received 434.13 536.27
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (14,384.44) 629.44
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares on account of exercise of share options 22,51 20.56 -
Proceeds from issue of shares on account of initial public offering ("IPO") 22 16,660,00 =
Share issue expenses related to initial public offering ("IPO") 22 (503.32) =
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities 5 (1,185.80) (894.11)
Repayment of interest portion of lease liabilities 5 (1,003.44) (878.78)
Repayment of borrowings (808.01) (1,718.73)
Proceeds from borrowings 1,713.48 4,582.21
Interest paid (579.82) (274.85)
Net cash generated from financing activities 14,313.65 814.74
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) (905.24) 1,023.45
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 20 3,616.96 2,593.51
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 20 2,711.72 3,616.96
Notes:
Particulars Note Agat Asiat
No. March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
1. Components of cash and cash equivalents:
Cash in hand 20 2.36 1.93
Fund in Transit 20 - 28.55
Balances with banks
- in current accounts 20 1,9%0.34 1,314.71
In deposit accounts having original matuirity less than 3 months 20 719.02 2,271.77
Total 20 2,711.72 3,616.96




Brainbees Solutions Limited (formerly known as Brainbees Solutions Private Limited)
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the yead ended March 31, 2025
{All amounts in Rupees million, unless otherwise stated)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

particulaie Note For the year ended For the year ended
No. March 31, 2025 March 31,2024 |
Opening balance of borrowings
Non-current borrowings 26 2,294.60 550.40
Current borrowings® 26 2,332.62 1,214.34
Lease liabilities 5 9,598,25 7,226.35
Interest accrued but not due on borrowings 28 41.34 7.66
Movement
Cash flows (879.45) 848.42
MNon cash changes 5 2,333.97 4,419.64
Closing balance of borrowings
Non-current borrowings 26 2,099.89 2,294.60
Current borrowings* 26 3,432.80 2,332.62
Lease liabilities 5 10,166.60 9,568.25
Interest accrued but not due on borrowings 28 22,04 41.34

*Current borrowings includes current maturities of non-current borrowings.
Non-cash movement represents:

- With respect to long-term berrowings, accrual of interest on liability component of compound financial instruments and reclassification of liability component to Instrument entirely equity in

nature (refer note 23 and 26).

- With respect to leases, accrual of interest on lease liabilities, rent concessions, new additions and deletions to the leases (refer note 5).

Summary of material accounting policy information
See accompanying notes forming integral part of these financial statements
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Brainbees Solutions Limited (formerly known as Brainbees Solutions Private Limited)
Material Accounting Policy Information
(All amounts in Rupees million, unless otherwise stated)

1 Reporting entity

Brainbees Solutions Limited (formerly known as Brainbees Solutions Private Limited) {the 'Holding Company'} is a company domiciled in India, with its registered office situated in
Pune. The Holding Company is engaged in the business of buying, selling, advertising, promoting baby and kids products and Fast Moving Consumer Goods {'FMCG') goods on a
wholesale basis through various business partners The Holding Company has also ventured into pre school business for kids through various franchisee partners in India.

The Consolidated Financial Statements comprises the financial statements of the Holding Company, its subsidiaries and step down subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”).

2 Basis of preparation of financial statements

A. Statement of compliance
These Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) as per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules,
2015 notified under Section 133 of Companies Act, 2013, (the 'Act') and other relevant provisions of the Act.

The Consolidated Financial Statements were authorised for issue by the Holding Company's Board of Directors on May 26, 2025,
Details of the Group's material accounting policy information are included in Note 3.

These Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared on accrual and going concern basis.

B. Functional and presentation currency

These Consclidated Financial Statements are presented in Indian Rupees (INR), which is also the Holding Company's functional currency. All amounts have been rounded-off to the
nearest million, up to two places of decimal, unless otherwise indicated

C. Basis of measurement

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following items:

Items Measurement basis
Investments Fair value
Consideration payable to selling shareholders due to business 3
S Fair value
combination
Equity-settled share-based payment arrangements Fair value

D. Basis of consalidation

(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the

ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the Consolidated Financial Statement from the date on which
control commences until the date on which control ceases.

(ii) Non-controlling interests (NCI)

Non-controlling interests are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. Changes in the Group’s equity interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions.

(iii) Equity accounted investees

The Group’s interests in equity accounted investees comprise interests in associates and joint ventures.

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the financial and operating policies. A joint venture is an arrangement in
which the Group has joint control and has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities.

Interests in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. They are recognised initially at cost which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial

recognition, the Consolidated Financial Statements include the Group's share of profit or loss and OCI of equity accounted investees until the date on which significant influence or
joint control ceases.

(iv) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealized gains arising from transactions with
equity accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group's interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

(v) Anticipated Acquisition method:

The Group applies the anticipated acquisition method where it has the right and the obligation to purchase any remaining non-controlling interest. Under the anticipated acquisition
method the interests of the non-controlling shareholder are derecognized when the Group's liability relating to the purchase of its shares is recognized. The recognition of the
financial liability implies that the interests subject to the purchase are deemed to have been acquired already. Therefore, the corresponding interests are presented as already

owned by the Group even though legally they are still non-controlling interests. The initial measurement of the fair value of the financial liability recognized by the Group forms part
of the contingent consideration for the acquisition.

(vi)Contingent consideration {Consideration payable to selling sharehclders due to business combination):

The contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IND AS 109 Financial Instruments or IND AS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in consolidated statement of profit and loss.

(vii) Loss of contral

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any interest retained
in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value at the date the control is lost. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

(viii) Foreign operations

For the purpose of consolidation, the assets and lizbilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated to Indian rupees at the exchange rate prevailing on the Statement of
Assets and Liabilities date, and the income and expenses at the average rate of exchange for the respective months. Exchange differences arising on such translation are recognised
as foreign currency translation reserve under equity. Exchange differences arising from the translation of a foreign operation previously recognised in currency translation reserve in
equity are not reclassified from equity to profit or loss until the disposal of the operation.
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2 Basis of preparation of financial statements (continued)

E. Going concern assumptions

These Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The management has assessed the cash flow projections and available liquidity for a period of
at least twelve months from the date of these financial st ts. gement beli that the Group will be able to continue as a 'going concern' in the foreseeable future and
for a period of at least twelve menths from the date of these financial statements based on the following:

I. Expected future operating cash flows based on business projections, and

I1. Available liquid assets with the Group.

Based on the above factors, Management has concluded that the “going concern” assumption is appropriate. Accordingly, the financial statements do not include any adjustments
regarding the recoverability and classification of the carrying amount of assets and classification of liabilities that might result, should the Group be unable to continue as a going
concern.

F. Use of estimates and judgements

In preparing these Consolidated Financial Statements, management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised prospectively.

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the
consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or
circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised prospectively.
Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment are included in the following notes:

- Note 3(e)(ii) Impairment of goodwill and brand value: key assumptions being discount rate and terminal growth rate.

- Note 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets (DTA), availability of future taxable profit against which tax losses carried forward can be used.

- Note 48 measurement of defined benefit obligations: key actuarial assumptions;

- Note 49 Valuation of assets acquired as part of Business Combination and consideration payable to selling shareholders due to business combination.

Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables and contract assets (refer note 19 and 55)

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value
in use, The fair value less costs of disposal calculation where performed, is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) model. The recoverable amount is
sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as well as the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. These estimates are most
relevant to goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite useful lives recognised by the Group.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Determining the lease term of contracts — Group as lessee

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be
exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

Revenue from contracts with customers (refer note 34)

Determining method to estimate variable consideration and assessing the constraint
Certain contracts for the sale of preducts include a right of return and volume rebates that give rise to variable consideration. In estimating the variable consideration, the Group is
required to use either the expected value method or the most likely amount method based on which method better predicts the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled.

The Group determined that the expected value method is the appropriate methaod to use in estimating the variable consideration for the sale of products with rights of return, given
the large number of customer contracts that have similar characteristics. In estimating the variable consideration for the sale of equipment with volume rebates, the Group
determined that using a combination of the most likely amount method and expected value method is appropriate. The selected method that better predicts the amount of variable
consideration was primarily driven by the number of volume thresholds contained in the contract. The most likely amount method is used for those contracts with a single volume
threshald, while the expected vzlue method is used for contracts with more than one volume threshold.

G. Measurement of fair values
A number of the Group's accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

- In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
- In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values wherein the overall responsibility for overseeing all significant fair value
measurements, including Level 3 fair values is supervised by the Chief Financial Officer.
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2 Basis of preparation of financial statements (continued)
G. Measurement of fair values (continued)

This includes reviews of significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. If third party information is used to measure fair values, then the evidence obtained from the
third parties to support the conclusion that these valuations meet the requirements of Ind AS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which the valuations should be
classified is assessed.

Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observablz market data as far as possible. If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability

fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input
that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which the change has occurred.
Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the following notes:

- Note 52 - Fair value measurements

- Note 51 - Share based payment arrangements

- Note 55 - Financial instruments - Risk management

- Note 49 - Valuation of assets acquired as part of Business Combination and consideration payable to selling shareholders due to business combination.

H. Current / non-current classification
All assets and liabilities are classified into current and non-current :-

Assets

An asset is classified as current when it satisfies any of the following criteria:

(a) it is expected to be realised in, or is intended for sale or consumption in, the Group's normal operating cycle;

(b) it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

(c) it is expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting date; or

(d) it is cash or cash equivalent unless it is restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.
Current assets include the current portion of non-current financial assets. All other assets are classified as non-current.

Liabilities

A liability is classified as current when it satisfies any of the following criteria:

(a) it is expected to be settled in the Group’s normal operating cycle;

(b) it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

(c) it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting date; or

(d) the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. Terms of a liability that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification.

Current liabilities include current portion of non-current financial liabilities. All other liabilities are classified as non-current.

Deferred tax asset and liability are classified as Non-current assets and liabilities.

Operating cycle
Operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash or cash equivalents, The operating cycle of the Group is less than 12 months.

3 Material accounting policy Information
a, Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.

i. Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables and debt instruments (such as security deposits) issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue.

ii. Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at

- amortised cost;

- Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) - debt investment;

- Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) - equity investment; or
- Fair Value through profit and loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except if and in the period the Group changes its business model for managing financial assets.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:
- the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measured at FVOC! if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:
- the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and
- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevecably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment's fair value in OCI
(designated as FVOCI - equity investment). This election is made on an investment- by- investment basis.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group's continuing
recognition of the assets,
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3 Material accounting policy Information (continued)
a. Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL.
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a

financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets at FVTPL These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, at FVTPL including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in
profit or loss.

Debt investments at FVOC! These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income under the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI
are reclassified to profit or loss.

Equity investments at FVOC! These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCl and are not reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised | These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses.
cost Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held- for- trading, or it is a derivative or it is
designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or

loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

iii. Derecognition
Financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in

a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its Statement of Assets and Liabilities, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards
of the transferred assets, the transferred assets are not derecognised.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire.

The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows under the modified terms are substantially different. In this case, a new financial
liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and the new financial liability with

maodified terms is recognised in profit or loss.

iv. Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the Consclidated Balancesheet when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable
right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

b. Property, plant and equipment

iR ition and t

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, which includes capitalised borrowing costs, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost, net of accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and

rebates, any directly attributable cost of bringing the item to its working condition for its intended use and estimated costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the
site on which it is located.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are accounted for as separate items (major compenents) of property, plant and
equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.
ii. Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group.

lii. Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated on costs of items of property, plant and equipment less their estimated residual values over their estimated useful lives using the written down value
method, and is generally recognised in the statement of profit and loss.
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3 Material accounting policy Information (continued)

b. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment for the current and comparative perieds estimated by management are also in line with those specified in Schedule Il to
the Companies Act, 2013 and arc as follows:

Asset Useful life (years)
Computers 3
Network and Servers (disclosed within Computers) 6
Office equipment 5
Furniture and fixtures 10
Furniture and fixtures - Bin Boxes 2
Leasehold improvements 5 (over the period of the lease)
Plant and machinery 10-15
Building (other than factory buildings) other than RCC Frame 30
Structure
Electrical Installations 10
Vehicles 10

Depreciation method, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.
Depreciation on additions (disposals) is provided on a pro-rata basis i.e. from (upto) the date on which asset is ready for use (disposed of).
c. Intangible assets

i. Brands

Brands acquired on business combination Is initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition the Brands are assessed between those having indefinite useful lives
and those having definite useful lives. Brands with indefinite useful lives are recognised at their carrying value less impairment losses. Brands with definite useful lives, are amortised
over their estimated useful lives. Amortization method and amortization period is reviewed by the management and changes in the estimated useful life are made if the same are
expected to be used for shorter period than the initial estimated period.

ii. Customer contracts

Customer contracts / relationships acquired on business combination is initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition the intangible asset's amortization method
and amortization period is reviewed by the management and changes in the estimated useful life are made if the same are expected to be used for shorter period than the initial
estimated period.

iii. Content writing

Intangible assets for content writing are initially recognised at cost of acquisition, Subsequent measurement is at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment loss, if any.

iv. Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets are initially measured at cost, Such intangible assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses.

v. Internally generated Intangible Asset

Research costs are charged to the statement of Profit and Loss in the year in which they are incurred.

Platform Development

Platform development costs incurred are recognised as intangible assets, when feasibility has been established, the Group has committed technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and it is probable that asset will generate future economic benefits, The costs capitalised includes the salary cost of employees exclusively working on
platform development upto the date the asset is available for use. Platform costs is amortised on a straight line basis over a period of 4 years

Platform development is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment, if any.

Product Development
Product development costs incurred are recognised as intangible assets, when feasibility has been established, the Group has committed technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and it is probable that asset will generate future economic benefits, The costs capitalised includes the material cost, service cost and salary cost of

employees exclusively working on product development upto the date the asset is available for use, Product development costs is amortised on a straight line basis over a period of 7
years

Product development is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment, if any.

vi. Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

vil. Amortisation

Goodwill and brand value are not amortised and are tested for impairment annually.

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method for contract
value and written down value method for other intangible assets is included in depreciation and amortisation in Statement of Profit and Loss.
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3 Material accounting policy Information {continued)

c. Intangible assets (continued)

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Asset Useful life (years)
Computer software 1-5
Contract value 76
Content Writing 4
Dubai Platform 4
Brand - School 35
Product development 7
Customer Relationship 5
Trademarks 10
Brand value 20

Amortisation method, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each financial year and adjusted if appropriate.

d. Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on weighted average method, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring
the inventories, and other costs incurred in bringing them to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses and discounts.

The comparison of cost and net realisable value is made on an item-by-item basis.
Cost of work in progress and manufactured finished goods is determined on the weighted average basis and comprises direct material, cost of conversion and other costs incurred in

bringing these inventories to their present location and condition.

Raw materials, packaging materials and stores and spare parts are valued at lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost of raw materials, stock-in-trade, packaging materials and
stores and spare parts includes purchase price, (excluding those subsequently recoverable by the enterprise from the concerned revenue authorities), freight inwards and other
expenditure incurred in bringing such inventories to their present location and condition. In determining the cost, weighted average cost methad is used.

e. Impairment
i. Impairment of financial instruments
In accordance with Ind AS 109, the group applies expected credit loss (ECL) model for measurement and recognition of impairment loss on the following financial assets and credit

risk exposure:

i) Financial assets that are debt instruments, and are measured at amortised cost e.g., loans, debt securities, deposits and bank balance;
ii) Trade receivables or any contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset that result from transactions that are within the scope of Ind AS 115.

The group follows ‘simplified approach’ for recognition of impairment loss allowance on trade receivables.

The application of simplified approach does not require the group to track changes in credit risk. Rather, it recognizes impairment loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date, right from its initial recognition. The Group recognises the provision for ECL based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-locking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.

In all cases, the maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ii. Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group's non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If
any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill and brand value are tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets that do not generate independent cash inflows are grouped together into cash-generating units (CGUs). Each CGU represents the smallest group of
assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs.

Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of a CGU (or an individual asset) is the higher of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows,
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU (or the asset).

The goodwill impairment test is performed at the level of the cash-generating unit or groups of cash-generating units which are benefitting from the synergies of the acquisition and
which represents the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purpases. Market related information and estimates are used to determine the
recoverable amount. Key assumptions on which management has based its determination of recoverable amount include estimated long term growth rates, discount rates and
terminal growth rates. Cash flow projections take into account past experience and represent management's best estimate about future developments,

ii. Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit
and loss. Impairment loss recognised in respect of a CGU is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying
amounts of the other assets of the CGU (or group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not subsequently reversed. In respect of other assets for which impairment loss has been recognised in prior periods, the Group reviews
at each reporting date whether there is any indication that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. Such a reversal is made only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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f. Employee benefits
I. Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount

expected to be paid e.g., under short-term cash bonus, if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the
employee, and the amount of obligation can be estimated reliably.

li. Share-based 141 <t

The grant date fair value of equity settled share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to the awards. The amount recognised as expense is based on the estimate of the number of awards for which the
related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number of awards that do
meet the related service and non-market vesting conditions at the vesting date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair value of the share-
based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes.

iii. Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation
to pay further amounts. The Group makes specified monthly contributions towards Government administered provident fund scheme. Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which the related services are rendered by employees.

Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

iv. Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Group's net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated

separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair
value of any plan assets.

The calculation of defined benefit obligation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a potential asset for
the Group, the recognised asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to
the plan ('the asset ceiling'). In order to calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideraticn is given to any minimum funding requirements.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any,
excluding interest), are recognised in OCI. The Group determines the net interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount
rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then-net defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net
defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributicns and benefit payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are
recognised in profit or loss.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that relates to past service {'past service cost' or 'past service gain') or the gain or
loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The Group recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs

v. Other long term employee benefit

The Group's liability in respect of other long-term employee benefits (compensated absences is the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in
the current and prior periods, that benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any related assets is deducted. The ebligation is measured on the basis of
an annual independent actuarial valuation using the Projected Unit Credit method. Remeasurement gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

g- Provisions (other than for employee benefits), Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

i. Provisions (other than for employee benefits)

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows (representing the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the Consolidated Balancesheet date) at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. Expected future operating losses are not provided for.

ii. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability exists when there is a possible but not probable obligation, or a present obligation that may, but probably will not, require an outflow of resources, or a present
obligation whose amount can not be estimated reliably. Contingent liabilities do not warrant provisions, but are disclosed unless the possibility of outflow of resources is remote.

8. Provisions (other than for employee benefits), Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
ii. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed anly by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the entity. Contingent assets are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. However, contingent assets are assessed continually

and if it is virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefit will arise, the asset and related income are recognized in the period in which the change occurs A contingent asset is
disclosed, where an inflow of economic benefits is prabable.
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3 Material accounting policy Information (continued)

h. Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised upon transfer of control of promised goods/ services to customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expect to be entitled for those goods/ services.

To recognize revenues, the Group applies the following five-step approach:

- Identify the contract with a customer;

- Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

- Determine the transaction price;

- Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

- Recognise revenues when a performance obligation is satisfied.

i. Revenue from sale of traded goods and finished goods

Revenue towards satisfaction of performance obligation is measured at amount of consideration received or receivable net of returns and allowances, trade discounts and rebates,
taking into account contractually defined terms of payment excluding taxes or duties collected on behalf of the government.

Goods and Service Tax (GST) is not received by the Group in its own account. Rather, it is tax collected on value added to the commodity by the seller on behalf of the government.
Accordingly, it is excluded from revenue.

The Holding Company generally works on cash and carry model. However, other companies in the Group have payment terms generally in the range of 30 to 90 days from the date of
delivery.

ii. Loyalty points programmes

For customer loyalty programmes, the fair value of the consideration received or receivable in respect of the initial sale is allocated between the loyalty points and the other
components of the sale. The amount allocated to loyalty points is deferred and is recognised as revenue when the loyalty points are redeemed and the Group has fulfilled its
obligations to supply the discounted products under the terms of the programme or when it is no longer probable that the award credits will be redeemed.

lii. Internet display charges

Income from internet display charges is recognised on an accrual basis to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue from such
services can be reliably measured. The performance obligation is satisfied over a time and payment is generally due within 30 to 60 days from satisfaction of performance obligation.

Iv. Service income

Service income arising from Brand & Platform (Website) License usage is recognised on an accrual basis and in accordance with the agreement. The performance obligation is
satisfied over a time and payment is generally due within 45 days from satisfaction of perfarmance obligation. This is considered as part of other operating revenue.

v. Preschool revenue
Revenue from royalty and sales of student kit to franchisee schools is recognised on accrual basis during the academic year. This is considered as part of other operating revenue.

vi. Contract balances
The Policy for Contract balances i.e. contract assets, trade receivables and contract liabilities is as follows:

a. Contract assets and trade receivables

The Group classifies its right to consideration in exchange for deliverables as either a receivable or as unbilled revenue. A receivable is a right to consideration that is unconditional
upon passage of time. Revenues in excess of billings is recorded as unbilled revenue and is classified as a financial asset where the right to consideration is unconditional upon
passage of time. Unbilled revenue which is conditional is classified as other current asset. Trade receivables and unbilled revenue is presented net of impairment. Refer to accounting
policies of financial assets in financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement.

b. Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to deliver services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration or part thereof {or an amount of

consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before the Group deliver services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is
made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract.

i. Other Income
i. Recognition of interest income or expense
Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method.

The effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

- the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
- the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised
cost of the liability. However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

ii. Rental income

Rental income from sub-leasing activities is recognised on an accrual basis based on the underlying sub-lease arrangements.

iii. Income from support services
Income from support services are recognised when the services are performed and recovery of the consideration is certain.
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3 Material accounting policy Information (continued)

J« Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or to an item recognised directly in
equity or in other comprehensive income.

i. Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous
years The amount of current tax reflects the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received after considering the uncertainty, if any, related to income taxes. Itis
measured using tax rates (and tax laws) enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are offset only if there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and it is intended to realise the asset and settle the
liability on a net basis or simultanecusly.

il. Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts
used for taxation purposes, Deferred tax is also recognised in respect of carried forward tax losses and tax credits. Deferred tax is not recognised for:

- temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss at the time of the transaction;

- temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. The Group recognizes a deferred tax
asset to the extent that there is convincing other evidence that sufficient taxable profit will be available against which such deferred tax asset can be realized. Deferred tax assets —

unrecognized or recognized, are reviewed at each reporting date and are recognized / reduced to the extent that it is probable / no longer probable respectively that the related tax
benefit will be realized.

Deferred tax Is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on the laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax
authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be
realised simultaneously.

k. Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs (including exchange differences relating to foreign currency borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest

costs) incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition or construction of an asset which r ily take a sub ial period
of time to get ready for their intended use are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.

I. Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is 2 reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the relevant conditions and the grant will be received.

Government grants are recognised in the statement of profit and loss, either on a systematic basis when the Group recognises, as expenses, the related costs that the grants are
intended to compensate or, immediately if the costs have already been incurred. Government grants related to assets are deferred and amortised over the useful life of the asset.
Government grants related to income are presented as an offset against the related expenditure, and government grants that are awarded as incentives with no ongoing
performance obligations to the Group are recognised as income in the period in which the grant is received.

m.

and dwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method, The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at
acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
Interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set of activities and assets include an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create outputs. The acquired process Is considered substantive if it is critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, and the inputs acquired include an
organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform that process or it significantly contributes to the ability to continue producing outputs and is
considered unigue or scarce or cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue producing outputs,

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired, and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their acquisition date fair values. For this purpose, the liabilities assumed include
contingent liabilities representing present obligation and they are measured at their acquisition fair values irrespective of the fact that outflow of resources embodying econemic
benefits is not probable. However, the following assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination are measured at the basis indicated below:

« Deferred tax assets or liabilities, and the liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with Ind AS 12 Income Tax and
Ind AS 19 Employee Benefits respectively.

* Potential tax effects of temporary differences and carry forwards of an acquiree that exist at the acquisition date or arise as a result of the acquisition are accounted in accordance
with Ind AS 12.



Brainbees Solutions Limited (formerly known as Brainbees Solutions Private Limited)
Material Accounting Policy Information
(All amounts in Rupees million, unless otherwise stated)

3 Material accounting policy Information (continued)
m. Business combination and Goodwill (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is re-measured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss or OCI, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a
financial instrument and within the scope of Ind AS 109 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in accordance with Ind
AS 109. If the contingent consideration is not within the scope of Ind AS 109, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate Ind AS and shall be recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured at subsequent reporting dates and subsequent its settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous
interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the
Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be
recognised at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is
recognised in OCI and accumulated in equity as capital reserve. However, if there is no clear evidence of bargain purchase, the entity recognises the gain directly in equity as capital
reserve, without routing the same through OCI.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities
of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

A cash generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is dispesed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included
in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the
disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

n. Foreign currency

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary

assets and liabilities that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Exchange difference are
recognised in profit and loss.

For the purpose of consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated to Indian rupees at the exchange rate prevailing on the Statement of
Assets and Liabilities date, and the income and expenses at the average rate of exchange for the respective months. Exchange differences arising on such translation are recognised

as currency translation reserve under equity. Exchange differences arising from the translation of a foreign operation previously recognised in currency translation reserve in equity
are not reclassified from equity to profit or loss until the disposal of the operation.

0. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Balancesheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

p- Leases

The Group evaluates if an arrangement qualifies to be a lease as per the requirements of Ind AS 116. Identification of a lease requires significant judgment. The Group uses significant
Jjudgement in assessing the lease term (including anticipated renewals) and the applicable discount rate.

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable period of a lease, together with both periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise that option, and periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the Group is reasonably certain not to exercise that option. In assessing whether the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend a lease, or not to exercise an option to terminate a lease, it considers all relevant facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive for the Group to exercise the eption to extend the lease, or not to exercise the option to terminate the lease. The Group revises the lease tarm if there is a change in the
non-cancellable period of a lease,

Group as a lessee

The Group recognizes right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset for the lease term at the lease commencement date. As per Ind AS 116, lease
commencement date is the date on which a lessor makes an underlying asset available for use by a lessee. The Holding Company generally has two types of leases, one being leases
for holding company owned physical stores and other being the leases for warehouses of the holding company. In case of leases for holding company owned physical stores, the
holding company recognizes right of use asset on the lease commencement date. However, in case of leases for warehouses, lessor provides a rent-free period to facilitate fitting out
and essential modifications to the assets to make it available for use by the holding company. The assets cannot be used until the modifications are completed, hence the holding
company recognizes right-of-use asset for warehouse leases on completion of the initial rent free period i.e, the date on which asset is available for use,
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p. Leases (continued)

The cost of the right of use asset measured at inception shall comprise of the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives received, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing the
underlying asset or restoring the underlying asset or site on which it is located. The right-of use assets subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation,
accumulated impairment losses, if any and adjusted for any re-measurement of the lease liability. The right of use asset is depreciated in the straight line method from the
commencement date over the shorter of lease term or useful life of right-of-use asset. Right-of use assets are tested for impairment where there any indication that their carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. Impairment loss, if any, is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit and loss.

The Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date of the lease. The lease payments are discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses incremental borrowing rate. For leases
with reasonably similar characteristics, the Group, on a lease by lease basis, may adopt either the incremental borrowing rate specific to the lease or the incremental borrowing rate
for the portfolio as a whole. The lease payments shall include fixed payments, variable lease payments, residual value guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option where the
Group Is reasonably certain to exercise that option and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to terminate the
lease. The lease liability is subsequently re-measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability, reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made and re-measuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications or to reflect revised in-substance fixed lease payments, Where the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of the re-
measurement in statement of profit and loss.

Short-term leases and leases of low value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Where the Group is the lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset is classified as an operating lease. Assets subject to operating leases are
included in the property, plant and equipment. Rental income on an operating lease is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Costs, including depreciation, are recognised as an expense in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss.

q. Operating Segments

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The board of directors of the Group are
identified as Chief operating decision maker. Refer note 50 for segment information. Subsequent to acquisition of DARP and expansion of Globalbees and international operations,
for management purposes, the Group has reorganised its segments, which provides relevant information for better understanding of the Group's financial performance and resource
allocation decisions. Accordingly, the Group primarily operates in four segments namely (i) India multi-channel, (i) International, (iii) Globalbees and {iv) others

r. Earning per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit and loss for the pericd attributable to equity shareholders of the Holding Company (after deducting preference
dividends and attributable taxes) by the weighted average number of equity and compulsorily convertible preference shares outstanding during the period.

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit and loss for the peried attributable to equity shareholders of the Holding Company and the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the period are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares.

3.1 Recent Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS):

Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) notifies new standards or amendments to the existing standards under Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to
time. For the year ended March 31, 2025, MCA has notified Ind AS - 117 Insurance Contracts and amendments to Ind AS 116 ~ Leases, relating to sale and leaseback transactions,
applicable to the Group w.e.f. April 1, 2024. The Group has reviewed the new pronouncements and based on its evaluation has determined that it does not have any significant
impact in its financial statements.

(This space has been left blank intentionally)
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5

Right-of-use assets
The changes in the carrying value of Right-of-use (ROU) assets for the years ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 are as follows:
Particulars Land Buildings Vehicles Total
|Balance as on April 1, 2023 311.15 6,802.66 2,75 7,116.56
Additions during the period 20.21 3,597.51 - 3,617.72
Deletions during the period (117.70) {156.42) - (274.12)
Amortisation for the period (2.53) (1,447.85) {1.84) (1,452.22)
Effects of translation of Foreign Currency - 0.84 0.03 0.87
Balance as on March 31, 2024 211.13 8,796.74 0.94 9,008.81
Balance as on April 1, 2024 211.13 8,796.74 0.94 9,008.81
/Additions during the period 218.22 2,780.19 = 2,998.41
Deletions during the period - (773.49) - (773.49)
Amortisation for the period (6.56) (1,750.28) (0.94) (1,757.78)
Effects of translation of Foreign Currency - 1.94 - 194
Balance as on March 31, 2025 422,79 9,055.10 - 9,477.89
The aggregate amortisation expense on ROU assets is included under depreciation and amortisation expense in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss.
The break-up of current and non-current lease liabilities are as follows:
. As At March 31, | As At March 31,
Particulars 2025 2024
Current lease liabilities 1,275.44 1,115.48
Non-current lease liabilities 8,891.16 8,482.77
Total lease liabilities 10,166.60 9,598.25
The movement in lease liabilities during the years are as follows:
|particitars As At March 31, | As At March 31,
2025 2024
Opening Balance 9,598.25 7,226.35
Additions during the year 2,711.20 3,461.21
Interest Cost accrued during the year 1,003.44 878.78
Deletions during the year (957.99) (195.27)
Payments during the year (2,189.24) {1,772.89)
Changes on account of remeasurement/ modification of lease - (0.41)
Effects of translation of Foreign Currency 0.94 0.48
Closing Balance 10,166.60 9,508.25
Amounts r ised in the C lidated Statement of profit and loss
As At March 31, | As At March 31
Particul. ! v
St 2025 2024
Amaortisation expense on right-of-use assets (refer note 42) 1,757.78 1,452.22
Interest expense on lease liabilities (refer note 41) 1,003.44 878.78
Expenses related to short-term leases or low value leases (included in other expenses) (refer note 43) 727.87 800.51
Loss on termination of lease contract (included in other expenses) (refer note 43) - (116.82)
Gain on termination of lease contract (included in other income) (refer note 35) 180.15 37.97
Amounts recognised in Consolidated Statement of Cash flow
psilailaE As At March 31, | As At March 31,
2025 2024
Cash outflow for leases (2,189.24) (1,772.89)

Notes:
When measuring lease liabilities for operating leases, the Group di d lease pay

average pre tax rate applied is 5% - 14% p.a. for all the years

ts using its incr

The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of lease liabilities on an undiscounted basis:

| borrowing rate at the date of inception of the leases. The weighted

Pacticutars As At March 31, | As At March 31,
2025 2024

Less than 1 year 2,223.89 2,027.72

1-3 years 4,362.14 3,839.04

More than 3 years 7,479.07 7,702.67




Brainbees Solutions Limited (formerly known as Brainbees Solutions Private Limited)

Notes ta C d Financial
(All amounts in Rupees million, unless otherwise stated)
6 Goodwill
Particulars Goodwill

Gross Block
Balance as at April 1, 2023 7,758.41
Additions due to Business Combination* 23.13
Balance as at March 31, 2024 7,781.54
Balance as at April 1, 2024 7,781.54
Additions due to Business Combination® =
Balance as at March 31, 2025 7,781.54
Carrying amounts (net)
Balance as at March 31, 2024 7,781.54
Balance as at March 31, 2025 7,781.54
*Refer Note 49
Impairment assessment for goodwill and | gible assets with indef life

Goodwill and Intangible assets with indefinite life are tested for impairment on an annual basis. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and Intangible assets with indefinite
life acquired in a business combination are allocated to the Group's Cash Generating Unit (CGU or groups of CGUs expected to benefit from the synergies arising from the business
combinations. A CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or group of assets.

During the year ended March 31, 2025 and year ended March 31, 2024, Goodwill and intangible assets acquired through business combinations with indefinite lives has been
allocated to the following CGU's:

e acticiak As At March31, | Asat March31,
Srtioviar 2025 2024
Goodwill:
India Multi-channel Segment
Brainbees Solutions Limited (formerly known as Brainbees Solutions Private Limited) 3,032.47 3,032.47
Swara Baby Products Private Limited 219.41 219.41
Firmreots Private Limited 17.76 17.76
Solis Hygiene Private Limited 47.44 47.44
Digital Age Retail Private Limitad 222.17 222.17
Subtotal A 3,539.25 3,539.25
Globalbees Brands Segments
Home Utilities 1,161.42 1,161.42
Fashion / Lifestyle 694.90 694.90
Appliances 1,481.07 1,481.07
Beauty & Personal Care / Home & Personal Care 902.34 502.34
Subtotal B 4,239.73 4,239.73
Others
Edubees Educational Trust c 2.56 2.56
Subtotal (A + B + C) 7,781.54 7,781.54
Brand acquired separately in: (refer note 7)
Brainbees Solutions Limited (formerly known as Brainbees Solutions Private Limited) 344.40 344.40
Firmroots Private Limited 114.16 114.16
Subtotal 458.56 458.56
Total 8,240.10 8,240.10

Impairment occurs when the carrying amount of a CGU, including the goodwill and Intangible assets with indefinite life, exceeds the estimated recoverable amount of the CGU. The
recoverable amount of CGU is higher of its fair value less cost to sell and its value-in-use. Value-in-use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the
CGU. The recoverable amount of goodwill is based on value-in-use.

The carrying amount was computed by allocating the net assets to the CGU for the purpose of impairment testing.

Value-in-use is calculated using after tax assumptions. The use of after tax assumptions does not result in a value-in-use that is materially different from the value-in-use that would
result if the calculation was performed using before tax assumptions.

The average range of key assumptions used for calculation of value in use are mainly, discount rate in the range of 14.65% - 18.40% for year ended March 31, 2025 (March 31, 2024:;
11.58% - 20.40%) and terminal growth rate in the range of 4.50% - 5.00% for year ended March 31, 2025 (March 31, 2024: 5.00%)
The discount rate is a pre-tax measure based on the rate of 10 year government bonds issued by government in the relevant market and in the same currency as the cash flows,

adjusted for risk premium to reflect both the increased risk of investing in equities generally and the systemic risk of specified CGU.

The cash flow projection include specific estimates for five years and a terminal growth rate thereafter. The terminal growth rate has been determined based on management's
estimate at which company's free cash flow are expected to grow perpetually beyond the explicit period, consistent with the assumptions that a market participant would make.

The Group beli that any r bly possible change in the key assumptions on which a recoverable amount is based would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed
the aggregate recoverable amount of the cash - generating unit.

Based on the above, no impairment was identified as of March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 as the recoverable value of the CGUs exceeded the carrying value.
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Brainbees Solutions Limited (formerly known as Brainbees Solutions Private Limited)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts in Rupees million, unless otherwise stated)

Non-current investments

As at March 31, | As at March 31,
Particulars 2025 2024
Investments at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Unquoted - equity
6,380 Equity shares of INR 10 each of Ekhaya Brands Private Limited 50.00 50.00
Unquoted - others
Investment in National Savings Certificate 0.08 0.08
Total 50.08 50.08
Aggregate book value of quoted investments : 3
|Aggregate market value of quoted investments - -
Aggregate value of unquoted investments 50.08 50.08
|Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investments - -
Current investments
As at March 31, | As at March 31,
Particulars 2025 2024
Investments at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Unquoted Equity Instruments 0.05 0.07
Total 0.05 0.07
Aggregate book value of quoted in s e
Aggregate market value of quoted investments = -
regate value of unquoted investments 0.05 0.07
g::re:ale amount of impairment in value of investments - -
Other non-current financial assets
M s
Particulars As at 2Dazr;:h 31, | Asat :.I:zr:h 31
Unsecured considered good unless otherwise stated
Security deposits 573.06 557.15
Government grants receivables 24419 262.84
Bank deposits (maturity more than 12 months) 785.73 111.14
Others - 15.07
Total 1,602.98 946.20
Other current financial assets
Particulars — ::::h Sy [asat :La;:h 3%
Unsecured considered good unless otherwise stated
Security Deposits 115.52 27.11
Government grants receivables 166.16 157.83
Custom Duty Receivable 0.66 0.66
Other financial assets 274.07 606.31
Total 556.41 791.91
Deferred Tax Assets/(Liabilities)
The break-up of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are as under:
it As at March 31, | As at March 31,
2025 2024
Deferred Tax Asset
Property, plant and equipment and Intangibles 524.41 525.51
Employees’ benefits 85.21 63.56
On lease liabilites 2,499.91 2,337.05
On right-of-use asset (2,141.52) {2,049.64)
Carry forward losses 577.10 83571
Others 333.11 185.23
Total 1,878.22 1,897.42
JDeferred Tax Liabilities
Property, plant and equipment and Intangibles (2,145.34) (2,860.27)
Others - 15.12
Total (2,145.34) (2,845.15)
Total (267.12) (947.73)
Significant components and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities for year ended March 31, 2025:
Asat Recognised in st
Particulars April 1, Others*
2024 in profit or loss inocl March 31, 2025
Deferred Tax Asset
Property, plant and equipment and Intangibles 525.51 (1.10) - - 524.41
Employees’ benefits 63.56 20.33 132 - 85.21
On lease liabilites 2,337.05 162.86 = = 2,459.91
On right-of-use asset (2,049.64) (91.88) - - (2,141.52)
Carry forward losses 835.71 (258.61) - - 577.10
Others 185.23 155.94 {8.08) - 33311
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Property, plant and equipment and Intangibles (2,860.27) 51.72 - 663.21 (2,145.34)
Others 15.12 (16.24) - 112 -
Total (947.73) 23.02 (6.74) 664.33 (267.12)

* Includes deferred tax impact on impairment of intangible assets.(refer note 7 and 59)
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Brainbees Solutions Limited (f Iy known as Brainbees Solutions Private Limited)
Notes to C lidated Financial Stat ts
{All amounts in Rupees million, unless otherwise stated)
Deferred Tax Assets/(Liabilities) (continued)
Significant P ts and ts in deferred tax assets and liabilities for year ended March 31, 2024:
As at Recognised in Asat
Particulars April 1, Others
2023 in profit or loss in OCI March 31, 2024
Deferred Tax Asset
Property, plant and equipment and Intangibles 517.46 8.05 - - 525.51
Employees’ benefits 48.73 15.39 (0.56) - 63,56
On lease liabilites 1,735.56 601.49 - - 2,337.05
On right-of-use asset (1,570.80) (478.84) (2,049.64)
Carry forward losses 684.85 150.86 - - 835.71
Others 212.08 (28.68) 1.83 - 185,23
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Property, plant and equipment and Intangibles (3,015.07) 154.80 - - (2,860.27)
Others 0.44 15.11 2 (0.43) 15.12
Total (1,386.75) 438.18 1.27 (0.43) (947.73)
Income tax assets (net)
Particulars As at March 31, | As at March 31,
2025 2024
Income tax assets (net)* 263.04 32499
Total 263.04 324.99
* Net of provision for tax as at March 31, 2025: INR 343.41 million, March 31, 2024: 112.93 million.
Current tax liabilities (net)
Particulars As at March 31, | As at March 31,
2025 2024
Income tax liabilities (net of advance tax)* 16.31 55,78
Total 16.31 55.78
* Net of advance tax paid as at March 31, 2025: INR 173.22 million, March 31, 2024: 338.07 million.
Loans
Particulars As at March 31, | As at March 31,
2025 2024
Unsecured considered good unless otherwise stated
Loan to KMP and directors (refer note 53)* - 84.06
Loans to employees 0.21 276.76
Total 0.21 360.82

*There are no loans or advances in the nature of loans granted to Promoters, Directors, KMPs and the related parties, either severally or jointly with any other person, that are;

(a) repayable on demand; or
(b) without specifying any terms or period of repayment

Other non current assets

= As at March 31, | As at March 31,
P I i
‘articulars 2025 2024

Unsecured considered good unless otherwise stated
Balance with Government authorities

GST receivable 3,227.17 2,545.82

Amount paid under protest 9.91 9.44
Capital advances 64,68 102.22
Prepaid expenses 4.45 271
Advance to suppliers - 4.84
Total 3,306.21 2,665.03
Other current assets

Particialirs As at March 31, | As at March 31,
2025 2024

Unsecured considered good unless otherwise stated
Advance to employees 33.03 29.05
Prepaid expenses 158.90 132.82
Balance with Government authorities

GST receivable 1,755.06 1,201.09

VAT receivable 0.54 0.54
Advance to suppliers 1,173.01 2,044.37
Receivables from vendors 438.41 744.48
Other receivables 16.11 13.45
Total 3,575.06 4,165.80
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Brainbees Solutions Limited (formerly known as Brainbees Solutions Private Limited)
Notes to C lidated Financial Stat t
(All amounts in Rupees million, unless otherwise stated)

inventories

Particulars As at March 31, | As at March 31,

2025 2024

Raw material® 1,862.89 1,530.78
Work in progress 1.44 7.34
Finished goods** 316.00 272,55
Stock-in-trade** 19,073.77 14,429.20
Store and spares parts including packing material 50.68 54.75
Total 21,304.78 16,294.62

Note: During the year ended March 31, 2025, the Group has recognised provision on inventories amounting to INR 168.14 million (year ended March 31, 2024: INR 44.91 million)

**Above Inventories includes Goods-in-Transit as at March 31, 2025: INR 1,715.22 million, March 31, 2024: INR 1,565.57 million.
* Above Inventories includes Material-in-Transit as at March 31, 2025: INR 103.19 million, March 31, 2024: INR 19.49 million.

Trade receivables

As at March 31, | As at March 31,
Particulars 2025 2024

Considered good = Secured - -

Considered good — Unsecured 2,825.16 2,184.07

Trade Receivables which have significant increase in credit risk 12.21 8.49

Trade Receivables — credit impaired 78.39 80.40
Total Trade Receivables 2,915.76 2,272.96
Less: impairment allowance (allowance for bad and doubtful debt)

Trade Receivables which have significant increase in credit risk (12.21) (8.49)

Trade Receivables - credit impaired (78.39) (80.40)
Total 2,825.16 2,184.07

Note - Above Lalances of trade receivables include receivable from group companies amounting to INR 3.45 million (March 31, 2024: INR 3.45 million). Refer note 53 for details.

Trade receivables ageing schedule as at 31 March 2025

Less th: 6 ths—1
Particulars Unbilled Revenue| Not due | e 1-2 years 2-3 years Mote than3 Total
6 months year years
Undisputed Trade receivables — considered good 153.44 491.42 | 2,089.50 39.95 29.25 20.57 1.05 2,825.18
Undisputed Trade Receivables — which have
significant increase in credit risk - - 1.01 1.16 5.68 4.36 - 12.21
Undisputed Trade Receivables — credit impaired - - 5.31 3.01 51.28 18.68 0.11 78.39
Disputed Trade Receivables— considered good & = - & = = = -
Disputed Trade Receivables — which have significant
increase in credit risk - - - - - - - =
Disputed Trade Receivables = credit impaired - - - - = - = -
Trade receivables ageing schedule as at 31 March 2024
Particulars Unbilled Revenue| Not due Lass thaiy [ G rvithe =1 1-2 years 2-3 years Morethan:3 Total
6 months year years
Undisputed Trade receivables — considered good 93.64 181.63 | 1,519.63 294.67 86.64 3.10 4,76 2,184.07
Undisputed Trade Receivables - which have
isignificant increase in credit risk = 0.07 2.51 1.14 3.92 0.85 < 8.49
Undisputed Trade Receivables — credit impaired - - 6.19 8.23 47.24 18.74 - 80.40
Disputed Trade Receivables— considered good - - - - - - - -
|Disputed Trade Receivables = which have significant
increase in credit risk - - - - - - - -
Disputed Trade Receivables — credit impaired - - - - - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents
Piitilcitn As at March 31, | As at March 31,
2025 2024
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash in hand 236 193
Fund in Transit - 28.55
Balances with banks
In current accounts 1,990.34 1,314.71
In deposit accounts having original maturity less than 3 months 719.02 2,271.77
Total 2,711.72 3,616.96
Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents
iR As at March 31, | As at March 31,
2025 2024
Deposits with banks with original maturity of more than three months but less than twelve months 14,344.01 3,120.91
Total 14,344.01 3,120.91




Brainbees Solutions Limited (formerly known as Brainbees Solutions Private Limited)
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts in Rupees million, unless otherwise stated)

22 Equity share capital

Particul As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
Arvicuiesy Nos Amount Nos Amount

Authorised

Equity shares of INR 2 each 55,24,55,000 1,104.91 |  55,24,55,000 1,104.91
|Issued, subscribed and fully paid up equity shares

Equity shares of INR 2 each 52,13,38,641 1,042.67 44,81,65,900 896.32
Less:

Shares Issued to Brainbees ESOP Trust (3,88,68,779) (77.74) (4,08,06,340) (81.61)
Total 48,24,69,862 964.93 |  40,73,59,560 814.71
Reconciliation of equity shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the reporting year

pasici As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
S = Nos Amount Nos Amount

Equity Shares

At the commencement of the year 44,81,65,900 896.32 43,32,65,195 866.52
Fresh issue of shares on account of Initial Public Offering™® 3,58,34,699 71.67 - -
Shares issued during the year on account of exercise of stock options (refer note 51) 21,54,472 4.31 - -
Shares Issued to Brainbees ESOP Trust - - 1,49,00,705 29.80
Increase in shares on account of conversion of CCPS** 3,51,83,570 70.37 = =

At the end of the year 52,13,38,641 1,042.67 44,81,65,900 896.32
Less:

Shares issued to Brainbees ESOP Trust (3,88,68,779) (77.74) (4,08,06,340) (81.61)
At the end of the year (3,88,68,779) (77.74)| _ (4,08,06,340) (81.61)
Total 48,24,69,862 964.93 40,73,59,560 814.71

*During the year, the Company has completed an Initial Public Offering ("IPO") of 90,194,432 equity shares with a face value of INR 2 each at an issue price of INR 465 per share (including
71,258 equity shares issued to eligible employees with a face value of INR 2 each at an issue price of INR 421 per share), comprising fresh issue of 35,834,699 shares and offer for sale of
54,359,733 shares. The Company's equity shares were listed on the National Stock Exchange of India Limited (NSE) and BSE Limited (BSE) on August 13, 2024,

**In accordance with the resolution passed by circulation by the Company's board of directors on July 5, 2024, all compulsorily convertible preference shares (CCPS) i.e. Series A CCPS, Series B
CCPS, Series C CCPS, Series C1 CCPS, Series C2 CCPS, Series D1 CCPS and Series D2 CCPS, have been converted to equity shares at a 1:1 ratio,

Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to Equity Shares

Equity Shares

The Holding Company has only one class of equity shares having a par value of INR 2 per share. Each holder of equity is entitled to one vote per share. Dividends (includi d dividends)

B Props h
if any, are declared and paid or proposed in Indian rupees. The dividend proposed if any by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the sharehoclders in the ensuing Annual General
Meeting.

In the event of liquidation of the Holding Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the holding company, after distribution of all preferential
amounts. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares held by the shareholders

Employee stock options/ share purchase plan

Terms attached to stock options granted/ share purchase plan to employees are described in note 41 regarding share based payments. For details of shares reserved for issue on conversion of
Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares, please refer note 23 related to terms of conversion of Compulsorily Convertible preference shares.

Particulars of shareholders holding more than 5% shares of a class of shares

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

Particulars Nos. of shares | % of paid-up | Nos. of shares | % of paid-up

held share capital held share capital

Equity shares

SVF Frog {Cayman) Limited 10,37,74,246 20% 12,40,92,296 28%
Mahindra & Mahindra Limited 5,02,33,661 10% 4,11,16,885 9%
$BI Focused Equity Fund 4,21,58,586 8% - 0%
Brainbees ESOP Trust 3,88,68,779 7% 4,08,06,340 9%
Mr. Supam Maheshwari 2,70,69,016 5% 2,88,93,347 6%
Pl Opportunities Fund = 1 Scheme Il 2,64,57,268 5% 2,64,57,268 6%
NextGen Management Services 2,24,82,090 4% 2,24,82,090 5%

Particulars of Shareholding of promoters

As of March 31, 2025, the Holding Company does not have an identifiable promoter in terms of the Companies Act, 2013 and accordingly disclosures related to promoter shareholding is not
given for this period. The Holding Company is a professionally managed Company.

Equity shares movement during 5 years preceding March 31, 2025
There were no equity shares issued as bonus or without consideration during last 5 years as on March 31, 2025

The Holding Company bought back 1,309,860 equity shares for an aggregate amount of INR 307.57 million at INR 234.81 per equity share. The equity shares bought back were extinguished on
October 15, 2020
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23 Equity p t of pulsorily ible pref e shares
Pasiiciilars As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

Nos Amount Nos Amount
Authorised
Series A CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares) of INR 2 each 1,55,000 0.31 1,55,000 0.31
Series B CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares) of INR 2 each 8,66,165 173 8,66,165 173
Series C CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares) of INR 2 each 2,18,56,650 43.71 2,18,56,650 43.71
Series C1 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares) of INR 2 each 4,38,100 0.88 4,38,100 0.88
Series C2 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares) of INR 2 each 77,800 0.16 77,900 0.16
Series D1 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares) of INR 2 each 1,22,17,950 24.44 1,22,17,950 24.44
Series D2 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares) of INR 2 each 1,41,97,750 28.40 1,41,97,750 28.40
Option 1 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares) of INR 2 each 30,500 0.06 30,500 0.06
Option 2 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares) of INR 2 each 70,000 0.14 70,000 0.14
Equity component of compulsorily convertible preference shares
Series A CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares) of INR 2 each - - 72,315 0.14
Series B CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares) of INR 2 each - - 36,755 0.07
Series C CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares) of INR 2 each - - 1,75,00,900 35.00
Series C1 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares) of INR 2 each - - 4,38,100 0.88
Series C2 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares) of INR 2 each - - 77,900 0.16
Series D1 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares) of INR 2 each - - 1,22,17,950 24.44
Series D2 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares) of INR 2 each - - 48,39,650 9.68
Total - - 3,51,83,570 70.37
Reconciliation of Equity component of compulsorily convertible preference shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the reporting year

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

Particulars

Nos Amount Nos Amount
Series A CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares)
At the commencement of the year 72,315 0.14 72,315 0.14
Decrease in shares on account of conversion to equity shares* (72,315) {0.14) - -
At the end of the year - - 72,315 0.14
Series B CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares)
At the commencement of the year 36,755 0.07 36,755 0.07
Decrease in shares on account of conversion to equity shares* (36,755) (0.07) - -
At the end of the year - - 36,755 0.07
Series C CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares)
At the commencement of the year 1,75,00,900 35.00 1,75,00,900 35.00
Decrease in shares on account of conversion to equity shares* (1,75,00,900) (35.00) 3 S
At the end of the year - - 1,75,00,900 35.00
Series C1 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares)
At the commencement of the year 4,38,100 0.88 4,38,100 0.88
Decrease in shares on account of conversion to equity shares* (4,38,100) (0.88) - &
At the end of the year - - 4,38,100 0.88
Series C2 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares)
At the commencement of the year 77,900 0.16 77,800 0.16
Decrease in shares on account of conversion to equity shares* (77,900) (0.16) . =
At the end of the year - - 77,900 0.16
Series D1 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares)
At the commencement of the year 1,22,17,950 24.44 1,22,17,950 24.44
Decrease in shares on account of conversion to equity shares* (1,22,17,950) (24.44) = <
At the end of the year - ) - 1,22,17,950 24.44
Series D2 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares)
At the commencement of the year 48,398,650 9.68 48,39,650 9.68
Decrease in shares on account of conversion to equity shares* (48,39,650) (9.68) - -
At the end of the year - - 48,39,650 9.68
Total - - 3,51,83,570 70.37

* In accordance with the resolution passed by circulation by the Company's board of directors on July 5, 2024, all compulsorily convertible preference shares {CCPS) i.e. Series A CCPS, Series
B CCPS, Series C CCPS, Series C1 CCPS, Series C2 CCPS, Series D1 CCPS and Series D2 CCPS, have been converted to equity shares at a 1:1 ratio.

Investor shares shall include the following:

1 Series ACCPS
2 Series B CCPS
3 Series CCCPS
4 Series C1 CCPS
5 Series C2 CCPS
6 Series D1 CCPS
7 Series D2 CCPS




Brainbees Solutions Limited (formerly known as Brainbees Solutions Private Limited)
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts in Rupees million, unless otherwise stated)

23 Equity component of compulsorily convertible preference shares (continued)
Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to Series A, Series B, Series C, Series C1, Series C2, Series D1 & D2 Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares
Series A and Series B CCPS

The Holding Company has issued Series A and Series B CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares) having a face value of INR 2 per share. Each shareholder of Series A CCPS and
Series B CCPS shall be entitled to vote on Series A CCPS and Series B CCPS respectively held by them (as a single class and on a converted basis and not as a separate class) except as
specifically provided. The holders of Series A CCPS shall be entitled to payment of 0.001% cumulative coupon per annum on each Series A CCP5 by way of dividends from the Holding
Company in accordance with applicable Laws and when the Board declares any dividend. The dividend would be cumulative and would be paid prior to payment of any dividend with respect
to Equity Shares and Series A Equity Shares. The holders of the Series A CCPS and Series B CCPS shall have the right to convert all or any portion of the Series A CCPS and Series B CCPS held
by them at any time at the then applicable Series A CCPS and Series B CCPS conversion ratio ranging of 1:1 into Equity Shares of the Holding Company, prior to expiry of 19 years from the
allotment of shares.

Series C, Series C1 and Series C2 CCPS

The Holding Company has issued Series C, Series C1 and Series C2 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares) having a face value of INR 2 per share. Each shareholder of Series C,
Series C1 and Series C2 CCPS shall be entitled to vote on Series C, Series C1 and series C2 CCPS respectively held by them (as a single class and on a converted basis and not as a separate
class) except as specifically provided. The holders of Series C, Series C1 and Series C2 CCPS shall be entitled to payment of higher of 0.001% cumulative coupon per annum on the Face value
of each of Series C, Series C1 and Series C2 CCPS or the amount receivable by them in the dividend declared based on their shareholding in the Company on an as is converted basis, as and
when the Board declares any dividend. The dividends would be cumulative and would be paid prior to payment of any dividend with respect to Equity Shares (save the Series A Equity Shares
as set out herein). The holders of the Series C, Series C1 and Series C2 CCPS shall have the right to convert all or any portion of the Series C, Series C1 and Series C2 CCPS held by them at any
time at the then applicable Series C, Series C1 and Series C2 CCPS conversion ratio of 1:1 into Equity Shares, prior to expiry of 19 years from the allotment of shares.

Series D1 and Series D2 CCPS

The Holding Company has Series D1 and Series D2 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares) having a face value of INR 2 per share. Each shareholder of Series D1 and Series D2
CCPS shall be entitled to vote on Series D1 and Series D2 CCPS respectively held by them (as a single class and on a converted basis and not as a separate class) except as specifically
provided. The holders of Series D1 and Series D2 CCPS shall be entitled to payment of higher of 0.001% cumulative coupon per annum on the Face value of each of Series D1 and Series D2
CCPS or the amount receivable by them in the dividend declared based on their shareholding in the Holding Company on an as is converted basis, as and when the Board declares any
dividend. The dividends would be cumulative and would be paid prior to payment of any dividend with respect to Equity Shares (save the Series A Equity Shares as set out herein). The
holders of Series D1 and Series D2 CCPS shall have the right to convert all or any portion of the Series D1 and Series D2 CCPS held by them at any time at the then applicable Series D1 and
Series D2 CCPS conversion ratio of 1:1 into Equity Shares, prior to expiry of 19 years from the allotment of shares.

Particulars of shareholders holding more than 5% shares of a class of shares

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
Particulars Nos. of shares | % of paid-up | Nos.of shares | % of paid-up
held share capital held share capital

Series A CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares)
Pl Opportunities Fund -1 = = 72,315 100%
Series B CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares)
Pl Opportunities Fund — 1 - - 36,755 100%
Series C CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares)
Valiant Mauritius Partners FDI Limited = c 1,07,38,987 61%
TPG Growth V SF Markets Pte Ltd. - - 42,79,925 24%
Pl Opportunities Fund - 1 - - 18,16,383 10%
Series C1 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares)
Pl Opportunities Fund = 1 - - 4,38,100 100%
Series C2 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares)
Ratan N Tata - - 77,900 100%
Series D1 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares)
Mahindra & Mahindra Limited - - 1,22,17,950 100%
Series D2 CCPS (Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares)
Valiant Mauritius Partners FDI Limited - - 38,47,105 79%
Pratithi Investment Trust = - 3,38,200 7%

Equity shares movement during 5 years preceding March 31, 2025

There were no Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares issued as bonus or without consideration during last 5 years as on March 31, 2025, Also there were no Compulsorily Convertible
Preference Shares which were bought back or extinguished during last 5 year as on March 31, 2025

24 Other Equity

Paiticilits As at March 31, | As at March 31,
2025 2024
Securities premium 44,929,60 28,832,21
Shares options outstanding account 6,804.66 6,429.48
Capital redemption reserve 6.59 6.59
Retained earnings (5,324.04) (4,450.87)
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 32.50 4.87
Total 46,449.31 30,822.28
Non controlling interests 5,387.84 6,207.17
Total 5,387.84 6,207.17
(i) Securities premium
Particulars As at March 31, | As at March 31,
2025 2024
Opening balance 28,832.21 28,832.21
Premium on issue of shares on account of Initial Public Offering (net of issue expenses) 16,085.01 &
Premium on issue of shares to Brainbees ESOP Trust 12.38 -
Closing balance 44,929.60 28,832,21




Brainbees Solutions Limited (formerly known as Brainbees Solutions Private Li

Notes to C lidated Fi lal Stat ts
(All amounts in Rupees million, unless otherwise stated)

24 Other Equity (cuntinued)

(ii) shares options outstanding account

Particulars As at March 31, 2025 | As at March 31, 2024
Opening balance 6,429.48 4,648.51
Share based payment expense (refer note 40) 1,544.01 1,780.97
Transferred to retained earnings (1,168.83) =
Closing balance 6,804.66 6,429.48
(iii) Capital Redemption Reserve

Particulars As at March 31, 2025 | As at March 31, 2024
Opening balance 6.59 6.59
Closing balance 6.59 6.59
(iv) Retained earnings

Particulars As at March 31, 2025 | As at March 31, 2024
Opening balance (4,450.87) 184,83
Net Loss for the year (1,914.67) (2,742.77)
Transferred from share option autstanding account 1,168.83 -
Adjustments due to change in share of Holding Company (113.55) (1,880.62)
Others (10.87) (13.39)
Remeasurement of post employment benefit obligations (2.91) 1.08
Closing balance (5,3_2&.04) (4,450.87)
(v) Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

Particulars As at March 31, 2025 | As at March 31, 2024
Opening balance 4.87 5.35
Addition during the year 23.95 (9.13)
Others 3.68 8.65
Closing balance 32.50 4.87

Securities premium

Securities premium is used to record the premium received on issue of shares. It is utilised in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.

Capital redemption reserve

The Indian Companies Act, 2013 (the “Companies Act”) requires that where a company purchases its own shares out of free reserves or securities premium account, a sum egual to the
nominal value of the shares so purchased shall be transferred to a capital redemption reserve account and details of such transfer shall be disclosed in the Statement of Assets and
Liabilities. The capital redemption reserve account may be applied by the company, in paying up unissued shares of the company to be issued to shareholders of the company as fully

paid bonus shares.

Shares options outstanding account

The Share Options Outstanding account is used to recognise the grant date fair value of options issued to employees under the Brainbees Employee Stock Option Plan 2011, BB ESOP

2022, BB ESOP 2023 and Globalbees ESOP.

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in OCI. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of OCI relating to that particular foreign

operation is recognised in profit and loss.

Retained earnings
Retained earnings are the profits that the Group has earned till date.

25 Non-controlling interests

Particulars As at March 31, 2025 | As at March 31, 2024
Opening Balance 6,207.17 7,434.35
Addition on account of business combination (86.45) (756.30)
Share of total Comprehensive income for the year (732.88) (470.88)
Closing balance 5,387.84 6,207.17

Set out below is summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are material to the group. The amounts disclosed for each subsidiary are

before inter-company eliminations.

Below is the summarised financial information of Globalbees Brands Private Limited.

Summarized Statement of Assets and Liabilities As at March 31, 2025 | As at March 31, 2024
Ownership interest held by non controlling interests 47.35% 47.85%
Current assets 1,050.82 1,660.58
Current liabilities 5,967.26 770.70
Net current assets (4,916.44) 889.88
Non-current assets 17,710.72 20,892.44
Non-current liabilities 2,800.72 8,494.01
Net non-current assets 14,910.00 12,398.43
Net assets 9,993.56 13,288.30
Accumulated NCI 4,122.95 5,725.56
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25 Non-controlling interests (continued)

26

As at March 31, As at March 31,
Summarized statement of profit and loss i S
Revenue 356.03 70.97
Profit for the period (3,292.28) (592.92)
Other comprehensive income 2.98 0.89
Total comprehensive income (3,289.30) {592.03)
Profit allocated to NCI (1,561.04) (283.71)
Other comprehensive income allocated to NCI 141 0.43
Total comprehensive income allocated to NCI (1,559.63) (283.28)

As at March 31, As at March 31,
Summarized cash flow

2025 2024
Cash flows from operating activities (887.91) (418.06)
Cash flows from investing activities {490.20) (792.68)
Cash flows from financing activities 1,394.19 1,234.45
Net Increase in cash & cash equivalents 16.08 23.71

Borrowings
T As at March 31, As at March 31,
A 2025 2024
Non-Current Borrowings
Secured
Term Loans from Banks (refer note A below) 1,112.96 907.79
1500 14.50% Non-convertible debentures of Rs 1,000,000 each (March 31, 2024: 1400 non-convertible debenutres) (refer note B
below) 986.93 1,386.81
Total 2,099.89 2,294.60
Current Borrowings
Secured
Working capital facilities from banks (refer note C below) 1,635.86 979.85
Working Capital Loans from financial institutions (refer note E below) 659.34 749.63
Current maturities of long-term borrowings
(a) Term Loans from Banks 487.57 336.98
(b) 14.50% Non-convertible debentures of Rs 1,000,000 each 537.54 -
Unsecured
Working Capital Loans from financial institutions (refer note F below) - 25.46
Borrowings by subsidiary company from its directors and their relatives (refer note D below) 29.60 157.81
Credit facilities from others (refer note G below) 82.89 82.89
Total 3,432.80 2,332.62
Notes:

Nature of Security

A. Secured Borrowings from Banks

1. Term Loans (including current maturities of long term loans) amounting to INR 248.25 million (March 31, 2024: INR 143.03 million) from HDFC Bank Ltd are exclusively secured
by way of equitable mortgage of the Factory Land and Building at Indore along with an exclusive first charge on Plant and Machinery & Including Current Assets Both Present and
Future of the Swara Baby Products Private Limited, subsidiary of holding company. The Term Loans carries interest varies from 7.90% to 11.65% p.a.. Term Loan will be repaid in 5
years from the date of disbursement in equated monthly instalments.

2. Better and Brighter Homecare Private Limited, step down subsidiary of holding company, has obtained vehicle loan of INR 2.50 million from ICICI Bank Limited. The loan carries a
fixed interest rate of 10.50% and is repayable in 36 equated monthly instaiments starting from June 2021, The loan is secured against hypothecation of vehicle. The balance
outstanding as on March 31, 2025: Nil. (March 31, 2024: Rs 0.16 million).

3, Solis Hygiene Private Limited, subsidiary of holding pany, has taken term loans from HDFC bank amounting to INR 730.18 million (March 31, 2024: INR 454,96 million) which
are secured by way of exclusive charge on Current Assets (Present & Future) of the company, Land and Building in name of company, Plant & Machinery (Present & future)of the
company and Fixed Deposit which needs to placed upfront as per 3 month of equal monthly instalment. The said borrowing is to be repaid in five years with 1 year moratorium.
Interest rate is 1 Month T-Bill + 151 bps.

4. Term Loans (including current maturities of long term loans) amounting to INR 621.57 million (March 31, 2024: INR 645.77 million) from HDFC Bank Ltd are exclusively secured
by way of equitable mortgage of the Factory Land and Building at Indore along with an exclusive first charge on Plant and Machinery & Including Current Assets Both Present and

Future of the Swara Hygiene Products Private Limited, step subsidiary of holding company. The Term Loans carries interest varies from 8.00% to 11.45% p.a.. Term Loan will be
repaid in 5 years from the date of disbursement in equated monthly instalments starting from July 2023 and ending in July 2028.

5. Solis Hygiene Private Limited, subsidiary of holding company, has taken vehicle loan from Mahindra & Mahindra Financial Services Limited amounting to INR 0.53 million (March
31, 2024: INR 0.84 million) which are secured by way of exclusive charge on said vehicle Interest rate is 9.75% p.a. The tenure of loan is 3 years

B. Terms of non-convertible debentures
1. Globalbees Brands Private Limited ("Globalbees"), subsidiary of the holding company has issued 14.50% Secured, redeemable, unlisted and unrated Non convertible debentures
amounting to INR 500 Million to Avendus Finance Private Limited and 900 Million and 100 millien to Avendus Structured Credit Fund for a period 3 years There is 18 months of

prinicipal moratorium with prinicipal repayment in 6 equal quarterly installments payable from date of first subscription under the issuance. The outstanding balance of debenture
is of Rs 1,524.47 million as on March 31, 2025 ( March 31, 2024: Rs 1386.81 million).
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Borrowings (continued)

C. Cash Credit Facility

1. HS Fitness Private Limited "HS Fitness", step down subsidiary of holding company, had obtained an Cash Credit facility of INR 100 million from Axis Bank Limited. The said facility
carried an inteest of 9.95% (MCLR + 1.20%) per annum with monthly rest. The said facility was secured primary against hypothecation charge of inventory cum book debts and all
current assets and CGTMSE coverage. Outstanding amount as on March 31, 2025: Rs Nil million (March 31, 2024: Rs 37.54 million).

2. Dynamic IT Solution Private Limited, step down subsidiary of holding company has been provided a sanction limit of credit facility of Rs 50 million during the FY 2022-23 from
Axis Bank. It had an outstanding loan of INR Nil million (March 31, 2024: INR 48,83 million) from Axis Bank Limited. The said loan carried an interest of 9.20% and was repayable on
demand. The said loan is secured by pari-passu on the entire current assets of the borrowing company and collateral security of cash margin of 15% by way of fixed deposits with
lien. Also corporate guarantee has been given by its holding company.

3. Candes Technologies Private Limited, step down subsidiary of holding company, has been sanctioned a credit facility of Rs 150 million on working capital from Axis Bank as on
March 31, 2023. The outstanding balance of credit facility as on March 31, 2025: Rs Nil million (March 31, 2024: Rs 142.68 million).

4. Kitchenopedia Appliances Private Limited, step down subsidiary of holding company, has been sanctioned a overdraft facility of Rs 15 million against the FD during the year. The
outstanding amount of overdraft facility is Rs NIl million as on March 31, 2025 (March 31, 2024: Rs 0.12 million).

5. Swara Baby Products Private Limited, step down subsidiary of holding company, has taken Cash Credit Facility from HDFC bank amounting to INR 472.90 million (March 31,
2024: INR 11.40 million) which are secured by way of exclusive charge on Current Assets (Present & Future) of the company, Land and Building in name of company, Plant &
Machinery (Present & future)of the company. Interest rate is as mutually decided time to time.

6. Solis Hygiene Private Limited, step down subsidiary of holding company, has taken Cash Credit Facility from HDFC bank amounting to INR 184.53 million (March 31, 2024: INR
119.51 million) which are secured by way of exclusive charge on Current Assets (Present & Future) of the company, Land and Building in name of company, Plant & Machinery
(Present & future)of the company. Interest rate is 8.80 p.a. linked to 3 Month T-bill.

7. Frootle India Private Limited, step down subsidiary of holding company, has a credit facility of Rs 150 million from ICICI bank, outstanding balance as on March 31, 2025 is Rs
102.12 million (March 31, 2024: Rs 134.92 million). The rate of interest stipulated by ICICI Bank shall be sum of I- MCLR-6M and "Spread" per annum, subject to a minimum of I-
MCLR-6M, plus applicable statutory levy, if any, on the principal. As on date of availment of credit facility the I-MCLR-6M is 8.70% and spread is 1.25% p.a. i.e. 9.5% p.a.

8. Swara Hygiene Private Limited, step down subsidiary of holding company, has taken Cash Credit Facility from HDFC bank amounting to INR 273.52 million (March 31, 2024: INR
233.67 million) which are secured by way of exclusive charge on Current Assets (Present & Future) of the company, Land and Building in name of company, Plant & Machinery
(Present & future)of the company. Interest rate is as mutually decided time to time.

9. DF Pharmacy Limited, step down subsidiary of holding company, has obtained an Overdraft facility of INR 67.79 million (March 31, 2024: INR 55 million) from Indusind Bank
Limited for working capital requirement for the tenor of 12 months from the revised sanction date of June 27, 2024. The said facility carries an interest of 0.5% over the Fixed
Deposit with monthly rest. The said facility was secured primarily against Fixed Deposit of the DF Pharmacy Limited with the bank. The oustanding balance of credit facility as on
March 31, 2025 is Rs 67.79 million (March 31, 2024: Rs 53.35 Million)

10. Prayosha Expo Private Limited, step down subsidiary of holding company, has obtained an Overdraft facility of INR 50 million from IDFC Bank Limited for working capital
requirement The oustanding balance of credit facility as on March 31, 2025 is Rs Nil million (March 31, 2024: Rs 0.47 million)

11. Merhaki Foods and Nutrition Private Limited, step down subsidiary of holding company, has obtained an Overdraft facility of INR 200.00 million from Axis Bank Limited for

working capital requirement The said facility is secured against its Fixed Deposit with the bank. The oustanding balance of credit facility as on March 31, 2025 is Rs Nil million
(March 31, 2024: Rs 197.49 million)

12. Plantex E-Commerce Private Limited, step down subsidary of holding Company had obtained an overdraft facility of Rs 5 million and WCDL of Rs 145 million limit from ICICI
Bank Limited ("Bank"). The balance as on March 31, 2025 is INR 135.00 Million (March 31, 2024 :- Nil) for working capital requirement for the tenure of 12 months from the
sanction date from March 19, 2025 . The said facility carries an interest of MCLR + 1.25% spread (i.e. 9%+1.25%) p.a.. The said facility was primarily secured against fixed deposit of
the company with the bank.

13, Frootle India Private Limited, step down subsidiary of holding company, has availed a credit facility of Rs 250 Million from Kotak Mahindra bank, outstanding balance as on
March 31, 2025 is Rs 250.00 Million (March 31, 2024 - Nil). The rate of interest applicable is 3.85% + Repo rate.

14, Frootle India Private Limited, step down subsidiary of holding company, has availed a working capital demand loan of Rs 150 Million from ICICI bank, outstanding balance as on
March 31, 2025 is Rs 150.00 Million ( March 31, 2024 - Nil). The rate of interest stipulated by ICICI Bank shall be sum of I- MCLR-6M and "Spread” per annum, subject to a minimum
of I- MCLR-6M, plus applicable statutory levy, if any, on the principal. As on date of availment of credit facility the I-MCLR-6M is 8.65% and spread is 1.1% p.a.

Details of quarterly returns for Borrowings secured against current assets

Amount as
Nedniiof Baik Giiaries Particulars of Amount as per reported in the A!riount of Re.ason for
Securities Provided | books of account | quarterly return/ difference Difference
statement
HDFC Bank Limited Mar-25 Finished Goods 268.03 266.94 1.10 | Material in transit
HDFC Bank Limited Mar-25 Raw material 1,919.48 1,795.47 124.01 Goods in transit
HDFC Bank Limited Mar-25 Trade receivables 1,295.42 1,371.33 (75.91)|  Sales in transit
ICICI Bank Limited Mar-25 Stock-in-trade 1,328.84 1,327.61 1.23 Goods in transit
Same customer
ICIC! Bank Limited Mar-25 | Trade Receivable 129.35 31272 {aeaiay| | Devies ceedt
balances have not
been knocked off.
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26 Borrowings (continued)

Details of quarterly returns for Borrowings secured against current assets

Amount as
N — it Particulars of Amount as per reported in the Amount of Reason for
e L Securities Provided | books of account | quarterly return/ difference Difference
statement
HDFC Bank Limited Dec-24 Finished Goods 250,02 243.43 6.59 | Material in transit
HDFC Bank Limited Dec-24 Raw material 1,498.76 1,439.65 59,11 Goods in transit
HDFC Bank Limited Dec-24 Trade receivables 635.32 635.32 = NA
Provision for NRV
ICICI Bank Limited Dec-24 Stock-in-trade 919.23 920.36 {1.13)| and Slow moving
stock
Same customer
havi dit
ICICI Bank Limited Dec-24 | Trade Receivable 176.75 250.57 (738 S 2VnBerE
balances have not
been knocked off.
Amount as
stiabsik Qisaiter Particulars of Amount as per reported in the Amount of Reason for
Ll Securities Provided | books of account | quarterly return/ difference Difference
statement
HDFC Bank Limited Sep-24 Finished Goods 234.19 234.19 3 NA
HDFC Bank Limited Sep-24 Raw material 1,186.04 1,186.04 = NA
HDFC Bank Limited Sep-24 Trade receivables 673.82 657.65 16.17 Sales in transit
Provision for NRV
ICICI Bank Limited Sep-24 Stock-in-trade 682.35 682.71 {0.36)] and Slow moving
stock
Same customer
ICICI Bank Limited Sep-24 Trade Receivable 626.77 660.87 (34.10) havingcradic
balances have not
been knocked off.
Amount as
Particulars of Amount as per reported in the Amount of Reason for
N of bank arter
R Quarte Securities Provided | books of account | quarterly return/ difference Difference
statement
HDFC Bank Limited Jun-24 Finished Goods 284.15 284.15 = NA
HDFC Bank Limited Jun-24 Raw material 1,088.30 1,007.82 80.48 Goods in transit
HDFC Bank Limited Jun-24 Trade receivables 467.44 467.44 0.00 Sales in transit
Provision for NRV
ICICI Bank Limited Jun-24 Stock-in-trade 447.87 456.42 (8.55)| and Slow moving
stock
Same customer
ICICI Bank Limited Jun-24 | Trade Receivable 203.03 215.10 (12.08)| having credit
balances have not
been knocked off.
Axis Bank Limited Jun-24 Stock-in-trade 147.24 147.24 - NA
Axis Bank Limited Jun-24 Trade Receivable 79.16 55.17 23.99 subiseyUsitagles
recorded.
Amount as
Particulars of Amount as per reported in the Amount of Reason for
Paechiant st Securities Provided | books of account | quarterly return/ difference Difference
statement
HDFC Bank Limited Mar-24 Finished Goods 239.95 230.84 9.10 | Material in transit
HDFC Bank Limited Mar-24 Raw material 963.02 963.60 (0.58)| Goods in transit
HDFC Bank Limited Mar-24 Trade receivables 590.19 619.85 (29.67) Sales in transit
ICICI Bank Limited Mar-24 Stock-in-trade 778.86 777.16 170 Goods in transit
Same customer
ICICI Bank Limited Mar-24 | Trade Receivable 184.17 189.66 (] RADECCNE
balances have not
been knocked off.
Provision for NRV
Axis Bank Limited Mar-24 Stock-in-trade 208.44 222.59 (14.14)| and Slow moving
stock
Same customer
Axis Bank Limited Mar-24 | Trade Receivable 189.19 211.72 (22.53)| heving credit
balances have not
been knocked off.
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Details of g Iy returns for Borrowings secured against current assets
Amount as
Particulars of Amount as per reported in the Amount of Reason for
b St Securities Provided | books of account | quarterly return/ difference Difference
statement
HDFC Bank Limited Dec-23 Finished Goods 258.34 260.55 (2.21)] Material in transit
HDFC Bank Limited Dec-23 Raw material 928.57 849.14 79.43| Goods in transit
HDFC Bank Limited Dec-23 Trade receivables 678.81 685.12 (6.31) Sales in transit
Provision for NRV
Axis Bank Limited Dec-23 Stock-in-trade 365.09 390.22 (25.13)]| and Slow moving
stock
Same customer
having credit
Axis Bank Limited Dec-23 Trade Receivable 171.85 201.00 (29.15)
balances have not
been knocked off.
Amount as
Na Fiask Giaiter Particulars of Amount as per reported in the Amount of Reason for
e Securities Provided | books of account | quarterly return/ difference Difference
statement
HDFC Bank Limited Sep-23 Finished Goods 199.82 199.82 - NA
HDFC Bank Limited Sep-23 Raw material 846.06 846.06 - NA
HDFC Bank Limited Sep-23 Trade receivables 663.98 663.98 % NA
Provision for NRV
Axis Bank Limited Sep-23 Stock-in-trade 405.43 426.44 (21.01)| and Slow moving
stock
Axis Bank Limited Sep-23 Trade Receivable 256.04 244.88 11.16 Sales in transit
Amount as
Name of bank Gilaiies Particulars of Amount as per reported in the Amount of Reason for
Securities Provided | books of account | quarterly return/ difference Difference
statement
HDFC Bank Limited Jun-23 Finished Goods 256.14 247.03 9.11| Material in transit
HDFC Bank Limited Jun-23 Raw material 837.14 766.62 70.52| Goodsin transit
HDFC Bank Limited Jun-23 Trade receivables 421.23 427.22 {5.99) Sales in transit
Provision for NRV
Axis Bank Limited Jun-23 Finished Goods 433.43 538,57 {105.14)| and Slow moving
stock
Axis Bank Limited Jun-23 Trade Receivable 270.34 264.91 5.43 Sales in transit

D. Borrowings by subsidiary company from its directors and their relatives
This amount represents unsecured loan from directors of respective companies and their relatives amount as on March 31, 2025: INR 29.60 million (March 31, 2024: INR 157.81
million). Majority of these are interest free loans and the loans are repayable on demand.

E. Secured Borrowings form financial institutions

1. The Subsidiary Companies of Globalbees Brands Private Limited have taken a working capital demand loan from Capsave Finance Private Limited, amount outstanding as on
March 31, 2025: INR 494.62 million (March 31, 2024: INR 579.70 million) at the rate of 13.50%. Capsave Finance Limited has sanctioned the loan amount of INR 595,00 million as
on March 31, 2025

2. The Subsidiary Companies of Globalbees Brands Private Limited have taken a supply chain financing from Stride One Capital Private Limited, amount outstanding as on March
31, 2025: INR 144.40 million (March 31, 2024: INR 149.95 million) at the rate of 12.50%. It carries interest at the rate of 12.50% per annum. The sanction amount of loan from
Stride One Capital Private Limited is 750.00 million.

3, Kitchenopedia Appliances Private Limited, step down subsidiary of holding company, has taken a revenue based facility from GetGrowth Capital Private Limited and Incred
Financial Services Limited for an amount of INR 5.00 million and INR 15.00 million respectively for short term working capital purposes and direct revenue related expenses. The
outstanding balances as on March 31, 2025 is Rs 20.00 million (March 31, 2024: Rs 19.98 million).

F. Unsecured Borrowings for financial institutions

Candes Technologies Private Limited, step down subsidiary of holding company, has availed short term credit facility for an amount not exceeding Rs 30 Million from Impressions
Partfolio Private Limited. The oustanding balance of such credit facility as on March 31, 2025 is Rs Nil (March 31, 2024: Rs 25.64 million) and carries interest rate of 12% per annum
payable on monthly basis. The said credit facility is repayable on demand.

G. Credit facilities from others

1. Butternut Ventures Private Limited, step down subsidiary of holding company, has converted trade payables to Pepper Health Private Limited into unsecured short term loan of
INR 8.20 million at the rate of 12.50% per annum during the current financial year 2023-24 for the period of 12 months. The outstanding balance as on March 31, 2025 is INR 8.20
million (March 31, 2024: INR 8.20 million).

2. Candes Technologies Private Limited, step down subsidiary of holding company, has taken short term loan for 1 year from Vedanta at 12.5% during the current financial year
2023-24. The outstanding balance of the loan as on March 31, 2025 is Rs 57.69 million (March 31, 2024: INR 57.69 million).

3. Encasa Homes Private Limited, step down subsidiary of holding company, has converted its trade payables of Suraaj Linens Private Limited amounting to INR 17.00 million into

short term unsecured loan for a period of 1 year at the rate of interest of 14% p.a. The outstanding balance as on March 31, 2025 is INR 17.00 million (March 31, 2024: INR17.00
million).

27 Other non-current financial liabilities

H As at March 31, As at March 31,
Particulars
2025 2024
Consideration payable to selling shareholders due to business combination 1,016.45 7,078.48
Payables for property, plant and equipment . 36.73 -
Security deposits - 7.04
Total 1,053.18 7,085.52
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28 Other current financial liabilities

Solutions Private Limited)

particul As at March 31, As at March 31,
s 2025 2024
Consideration payable to selling shareholders due to business combination 3,497.42 -
Accrued employee liabilities 254.25 248.36
Interest accrued on borrowings 22.04 41.34
Security deposits received 2.33 4.61
Payables for property, plant and equipment 270.17 300.01
Deferred consideration - 656.26
Other payable 16.63 17.65
Total 4,062.84 1,268.23
29 Non-current provisions
As at March 31, As at March 31,
Particulars 2025 2024
Provision for employee benefits
Provision for compensated absences (refer note 48) 74.89 62.10
Provision for gratuity (refer note 48) 247.50 187.34
Total 322.39 249.44
30 Current provisions
el As at March 31, As at March 31,
il 2025 2024
Provision for employee benefits
Provision for compensated absences (refer note 48) 28.20 25.45
Provision for gratuity (refer note 48) 48.33 31.13
Total 76.53 56.58
31 Trade payables
particul As at March 31, As at March 31,
kil 2025 2024
Total outstanding dues of micro and small enterprises (refer note 47) (MSME) 1,197.24 874.86
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises 8,079.27 8,204.60
Total 9,276.51 9,079.46
Trade payable ageing schedule as at 31 March 2025
Particulars Unbilled dues | Notdue Less than 1 year 1-2yrs 2-3 yrs. More than 3 years Total
MSME 130.90 308.03 706.82 37.17 10.65 3.67 1,197.24
Others 2,101.64 | 2,688.52 3,184.77 56.33 20.56 26.45 8,078.27
Disputed dues- MSME = = - - . 5 -
Disputed dues- Others - - = - = 5 "
Trade payable ageing schedule as at 31 March 2024
Particulars Unbilled dues | Notdue Less than 1 year 1-2 yrs 2-3 yrs More than 3 years Total
MSME 233.56 54.52 527.56 55.52 2.54 1.16 874.86
Others 4,563.66 | 1,270.12 2,238.51 88.05 28.64 15.62 8,204.60
Disputed dues- MSME - - - - = - -
Disputed dues- Others - - - - = B =
32 Other Non-current liabilities
Paskiciilsse As at March 31, As at March 31,
i 2025 2024
Deferred government incentives® 566.27 541.15
Total 566,27 541.15

* The Group receives two kinds of subsidy, one from the Madhya Pradesh government under Madhya Pradesh Industrial Promotion Policy 2014 and second from Central
Government under Technology Upgradation Fund Scheme (TUFS). The grants are related to income and is recognised in other income.

33 Other current liabilities

partlcilais As at March 31, As at March 31,
2025 2024

Statutory dues 719.67 223.08
Advance from customers 1,314.83 1,249.69
Unearned revenue 2.89 13.18
Deferred government incentives 91.57 80.06
Other payable 428.93 216.51
Total 2,557.89 1,782.52
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35

36

37

Revenue from operations

i For the year ended For the year ended
Particulars
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Revenue from contracts with customer

Sale of products

- Sale of traded goods 67,257.75 58,759.07
- Sale of finished goods 7,422.96 4,496.04

Total (A) 74,680.71 63,255.11
Other operating revenue

Internet display charges 1,084.46 925.79
Other Operating Revenue 830.97 627.66
Total (B) 1,915.43 1,553.45
Revenue from operations (A+B| 76,596.14 64,808.56
Reconciliation of the revenue from contract with customer:

particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Contract Price 78,243.99 66,203.82
Loyalty Points (2.28) 9.71
Discounts, Rebates, etc. (1,645.57) (1,404.97)
|Revenue from operations for the year ended 76,596.14 64,808.56

Refer accounting policy 3(h) for satisfaction of performance obligation and when the revenue is recognised. The Group does not have any remaining performance obligation as contracts
entered for sale of goods are for a shorter duration. There are no contracts for sale of services wherein, performance obligation is unsatisfied to which transaction price has been allocated.

Contract balances
The following table provides information about receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities from customers

Paiticilaia For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Contract assets
Trade Receivables 2,825.16 2,184.07
Contract liabilities
Advance from customers 1,314.83 1,249.69
Movement in contract liabilities during the year:
particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Balance as at beginning of the year 1,249.69 1,167.30
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the year (1,249.69) (1,167.30)
Advance received during the year 1,314.83 1,249.69
Balance as at end of the year 1,314.83 1,249.69
Refer note 50 for disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
Other income
For the year ended For the year ended
Particulars
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Interest income :
On fixed deposits with banks measured at amortised cost 814.34 412.22
On others 106.07 106.84
Lease rentals - 0.30
Miscell income 584.36 422.89
Total 1,504.77 942.25
Cost of materials consumed
Parbtitae For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Inventory at the beginning of the period 1,530.78 945.39
Add: Purchases 7,649.89 6,160.04
Less: Inventory at the end of the period (1,862.89) (1,530.78)
Total 7,317.78 5,574.65
Purchases of stock-in-trade
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Purchases of stock-in-trade 45,350.07 38,898.87
Total 45,350.07 38,898.87
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38 Changes in inventories of stock-in-trade, finished goods and work in progress

. For the year ended For the year ended
aicula March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Inventories at the beginning of the period
-Finished goods 272.55 254.77
-Work-in-progress 7.34 5.69
-Stock-in-trade 14,429.20 11,607.07
Less: Inventories at the end of the year
-Finished goods 316.00 272.55
-Work-in-progress 1.44 7.34
-Stock-in-trade 19,073.77 14,429.20
Total (4,682.12) (2,841.56)
39 Employee benefits expense
partical For the year ended For the year ended
R March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Salaries, wages, bonus and other allowances 5,338.20 4,568.20
salaries, wages, bonus and other allowances accounted as per Para BS5 of Ind-AS 103* 92.34 259.00
Contributions to provident and other funds 207.45 173.82
Staff welfare expenses 103.93 83.19
Total 5,741.92 5,084.21

*This includes employment cost of INR 92.34 million (March 31, 2024: INR 259.00 million) accounted for as per Paragraph BSS of Ind-AS 103 "Business Combinations" upon acquisition of 4

step-down subsidiaries .

40 Employee share based payment expense

hticilar For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Employee share based payment expense (refer note 51) 1,542.46 1,780.58
Total 1,542.46 1,780.58
41 Finance costs
For the year ended For the year ended
I
Baisicicars March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Interest on borrowings measured at amortised cost 518.34 212.14
Interest expense on lease liabilities {refer note 5) 1,003.44 878.78
Other borrowing costs 61.48 62.71
Total 1,583.26 1,153.63
42 Depreciation and amortisation expense
< For the year ended For the year ended
Particulars
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 1,232.16 1,169.48
Amortisation of right of use assets 1,757.78 1,452.22
Amortisation of other intangible assets 1,055.73 1,087.03
Total 4,045.67 3,708.73
43 Other expenses
. For the year ended For the year ended
Particulars
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Subcontractor expenses 1,135.28 865.81
Consumption of Stores & Spares 3248 30.30
Packing expenses 135.79 128.64
Courier expenses 6,444.49 5,457.49
Power and fuel 510.22 41212
Rent 727.87 800.51
Repairs and maintenance 188.23 139.33
Insurance 121.40 66.64
Rates and taxes 84.99 85.97
Travelling and conveyance 310.81 259.52
Legal and professional expenses* 274.16 337.61
Advertising and sales promotion expenses 6,471.00 4,821.82
Telephone and internet charges 440.14 346.02
Printing and stationary 25.16 22.86
Payments to auditor (Refer Note (i) below) 38.89 31.43
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Expenditure (Refer Note (ii) below) 23.84 12.68
Payments gateway expenses 328.64 292,97
Royalty Expenses 6.65 -
Miscellaneous expenses 1,726.25 1,495.18
Total 19,026.29 15,606.90

*includes director sitting fees amounting to INR 8.49 million (March 31, 2024: INR 0.84 million) (refer note 53).
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43  Other expenses (continued)

(i) Payments to auditors

Py For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
As auditor
Statutory audit 35.51 22.80
Tax audit 0.71 0.80
Other Audit Services 1.98 39.18
Reimbursement of expenses 0.69 0.24
Less - Amount transferred to other receivables - other current financial assets - (31.69)
Total 38.89 31.43
(ii) Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Expenditure
The details of Corporate Social Responsibility as prescribed under section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 is as follows:
For the year ended For the year ended
Pacticnlars March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
(A) Gross amount required to be spent by the Company during the year 23.41 12.27
(B) Amount spent during the year on:
(i} Construction/ acquisition of any asset Nil Nil
(ii) For purposes other than (i) above 23.81 12.67
a) Paid in cash 23.81 12.67
b) Yet to be paidin cash & <
(C) Related party transactions in relation to Corporate Social Responsibility - -
(D) Provision movement during the year = =
(E) Amount earmarked for ongoing project (in separate Unspent CSR A/C)
Opening balance 0.37 0.69
Amount transferred during the period = 0.37
Amount paid towards the ongoing project (0.37) (0.69)
Closing balance - 0.37
(F) Shortfall at the end of the year - 0.37
(G) Reason for shortfall Not Applicable Refer Note 1 below

(H) Nature of Corporate Social Responsibility

Education, eradicating

welfare

hunger, poverty and

malnutrition, promoting health care including
preventive health care and sanitation and social

Note 1: The Group has transferred the shortfall amounting to INR 0.37 million to the separate unspent CSR Account during the year ended March 31, 2024 . The Group has an ongaing
project and has earmarked the unspent CSR amount towards the said project. The Group has utilised INR 0.37 million from the said account towards ongoing project during the year ended

March 31, 2025 for shortfall of previous year.

44 Tax Expense

A Amounts recognised are as follows:

Pttt For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Amount recognised during the year
Current tax 351.15 438.05
Deferred tax (income)/expense (23.03) (438.18)
Total 328.12 (0.13)
B Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Paticidise For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Loss before tax (1,824.42) (3,215.20)
Expected income tax expense at rates applicable to respective entities (497.51) (688.44)
Tax effect of adjustments to reconcile expected income tax expense to reported income tax expense:
Income not liable to tax 3.35 (5.29)
Tax pertaining to prior years 2.67 4.87
Expenses not allowable in tax 42.69 99.45
DTA / (DTL) not recognised on temporary differences 153.12 (81.42)
Reversal of impairment loss (545.34) -
Deferred tax asset recognised on previous year losses and unabsorbed depreciation (23.64) (1.13)
Current year losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised 1,212.10 691.04
Others!net) (19.32) (19.21)
Total 328.12 (0.13)

45  Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit/{loss) for the year attributable to equity holders of the Holding Company by the weighted average number of equity shares

outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Holding Company by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during
the year plus the weighted average number of equity shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential equity shares into equity shares.
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45 Earnings per share ({ )

The following reflects the profit/(loss) and equity share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computations:

Particulars For the year ended | For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Loss attributable to equity shareholders (A) (1,914.67) (2,742.77)
Weighted average number of equity shares for calculation of Basic EPS (B) 46,58,84,309 44,25,43,130
Basic EPS (A/B) (4.11) (6.20)

Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding

46,58,84,309

44,25,43,130

Weighted average number of potential equity shares* (C) 4,35,37,461 3,29,79,377
Weighted average number of equity shares for calculation of Diluted EPS (D = B+C) 50,94,21,770 47,55,22,507
Diluted EPS (A/D) (4.11) (6.20)

* Potential equity shares have not been considered in the calculation of diluted loss per share for the year ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024, since these would decrease the loss

per share, hence considered "anti-dilutive".

46 Contil liabilities and

A Contingent liabilities

Particulars As at March 31, As at March 31,
2025 2024
Income tax matters (see note (i) below) 330.95 -
Indirect Tax matters (See Note (ii) & (iii) below) 56.96 40.83
Legal and other matters 591 13.15
Total 393.82 53.98
Notes

a) For the assessment year 2015-16, the Holding Company has received tax demand against penalty notice under section 271(1)(c} of the Income Tax Act, 1961 of INR 40.92 million. The
Holding Company has filed an appeal before Commissioner of Income Tax against the penalty demand passed by Assessing Officer by paying an amount of INR 8.18 million as protest money.

b) For the assessment year 2016-17, the Assessing Officer has made the addition of INR 42.71 million and had reduced the brought forward losses, however, even after such addition there
is no tax liability. The Holding Company has filed appeals against such additions made to Commissi of Income Tax (Appeals).

c) For the assessment year 2016-17, the Holding Company has received a penalty notice under Section 274 w.r.s 271C. The Holding Company does not anticipate any financial liability as the
proceedings U/s 201 which was filed with CIT(A) has been allowed in favor of the Holding Company.

d) For the assessment year 2016-17, re-assessment proceedings in relation to in relation to disallowing INR 96.98 million i.e. the payment made to Facebook Ireland under section 40{a)(i) of
the Act was allowed in favour of the Holding Company by Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals). The Holding Company has filed appeals against such additions made to Commissioner of
Income Tax (Appeals). The Company does not anticipate any financial liability as the disallowance was allowed in favour of the Company in the years prior to the said assessment year.

&) For the assessment year 2017-18, the Assessing Officer has made the addition of INR 82.01 millions and had reduced the brought forward losses, however, even after such addition there
is no tax liability. The Holding Company has filed appeals against such additions made to Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals).

f) For the assessment year 2017-18, the Holding Company has received a penalty notice under Section 274 w.r.s 271C. The Holding Company has submitted to the Department that since
the above case is filed with CIT (A) and is still ongoing, the proceedings for penalty shall be kept on abeyance until conclusion of the said case.

g) For the assessment year 2023-24, the Assessing Officer has made the addition of INR 318.64 million in the income tax return as income. In response, Kubermart Industries Private Limited,
step down subsidiary of Holding company, has filed rectification order for correction of the amount. The company does not expect any financial liability in the given case.

h) For the Assessment Year 2022-23, Froctle India Private Limited, step down subsidiary of the Holding Company, has received income tax demand order under section 143(3) read with
section 144B of the Income tax Act, 1961, of INR 12.31 million. This majorly includes the demand towards failure to deduct tax at source on various payments made during the financial year
2021-22 resulting in disallowance under section 40{a)(ia) of the Income tax Act, 1961. Further, the Company has also received penalty show cause notice under section 274 read with section
270A of the Income Tax Act, 1961. Appeal has been filed in the said matter with the competent authority.
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46 Contingent liabilities and commitments (continued)

A
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Contingent liabilities (continued)

a) For FY 2020-21, Digital Age Retail Private Limited, subsidiary of holding company, has received demand from Uttarakhand GST authorities of INR 0.26 million upon completion of GST
assessment u/s 73. Out of which tax amount has been paid of INR 0.13 million and appeal has been filed for interest and penalty amount.

b) For FY 2017-18, Digital Age Retail Private Limited, subsidiary of holding company, has received Goods & Services tax demand of INR 5.75 millions from Delhi State GST authorities. The
said demand is inclusive of interest of INR 3.01 millions.

c) For FY 2017-18, the Holding Company has received Goods & Services tax demand of INR 2.03 millions from Delhi State GST authorities. The said demand is inclusive of interest of INR
1.06 millions. Against this tax demand, the holding Company has filled an appeal with GST appellate authority and paid protest money of INR 0.10 million.

d) For FY 2017-18, the Holding Company has received Goods & Services tax demand of INR 19.99 millions from Karnataka State GST authorities. The said demand is inclusive of interest of
INR 11.00 millions. Against this tax demand, the Company has filled an appeal with GST appellate authority and paid protest money of INR 0.90 millien.

e) For FY 2018-18, Digital Age Retail Private Limited, subsidiary of holding company, has received demand from Punjab GST autharities of Tax amount INR 3,05 million upon completion of
GST 1t ufs 73 of the rell t GST act.

a) The Holding Company has received a demand notice from Custom Commissionerate, Chennai on 7th April 2021 for an amount of INR 0.53 millions towards duty for re-classification of
Breast Pump under a different HSN code. The Holding Company has responded to the demand notice on 11th May 2021 taking a position of no further tax payable by the Holding Company

b) The Holding Company has received a demand notice from Custom Commissionerate, Chennai on 30th April 2025 for an amount of INR INR 0.05 Million towards duty for re-classification
of Breast Pump under a different HSN code. The Holding Company is evaluating the case and will respond to the demand notice, and may file an appeal within the prescribed time limit.

c) Swara Baby Products Private Limited, subsidiary of holding company, a demand notice from Commisener of Customs, Indore on 26th July 2023 for an amount of INR 10.62 Million

(equivalent amount of penalty plus interest) for recovery Of custom duty. Against this tax demand, the subsidiary Company has filed an appeal in Appellate Tribunal.

Commitments

The estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and other long-term commitments and not provided for:

As at March 31, As at March 31,
Particul 5 '
e 2025 2024
Capital Commitments 158.15 376.29
Other Commitments* 3,698.79 2,750.93
Total 3,856.94 3,127.22

*The Group has imported certain machinery under the Export Promotion Capital Goods (EPCG) Scheme and accordingly has an export obligation of INR 3,698.79 million (March 31, 2024:
INR 2,750.93 million). In this respect the Group has given Bond of 101.66 million (March 31, 2024: INR 101.66 million) to the Commissioner of Customs and Bank Guarantee amounting to

INR 9.08 million (March 31, 2024: INR 45.18 million).

Dues to micro and small enterprises

The Group has certain dues to suppliers registered under IMicro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 (‘MSMED Act'). The disclosures pursuant to the said MSMED Act are

as follows:

aitiulars As at March 31, As at March 31,
2025 2024

a) Principal amount payable to suppliers as at year end 1,197.24 874.86

b) Interest due thereon as at year end * 0.20 =

c) Interest amount for delayed payments to suppliers pursuant to provisions of MSMED Act actually paid during the

year, irrespective of the year to which interest relates = =

d) Amount of delayed payments actually made to suppliers during the year 2,980.02 1,659.52

e) Amount of interest due and payable for the year of delay in making payment (which has been paid but beyond the

appointed day during the year) but without adding interest specified under the MSMED Act * 3577 16.19

f) Interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the year* 35.77 16.19

g) The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding years, until such date when the

interest dues as above are actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible 58.34 22.57

expenditure under the MSMED Act, 2006 *

* Above interest amounts have not been provided in the books

The Group has compiled this information based on intimations received from the suppliers of their status as Micro or Small Enterprises and/ or its registration with the appropriate authority

under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006.
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a)

b)

»

Assets and liabilities relating to employee benefits

e As at March 31, As at March 31,
2025 2024
Gratuity 295.83 218.47
Non-current 247.50 187.34
Current 48.33 3113

For details about the related employee benefit expenses, see note 39.

Defined contribution plans

The Group has a defined contribution plan in form of provident fund. Contributions are made to the fund for employees at the rate of 12% of basic salary as per regulations. The
contributions are made to registered provident fund administered by the government, The obligation of the Group is limited to the amount contributed and it has no further contractual
nor any constructive obligation. The expense recognised during the year towards defined contribution plan is INR 207.45 million (March 31, 2024: INR 173.82 million).

Defined benefit plans

The Group operates the following post-employment defined benefit plans.

The Group has a defined benefit gratuity plan in India, governed by the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. Plan entitles an employee, who has rendered at least five years of continuous
service, to gratuity at the rate of fifteen days wages for every completed year of service or part thereof in excess of six months, based on the rate of wages last drawn by the employee

concerned.

These defined benefit plans expose the Group to actuarial risks, such as investment risk, interest rate risk, longevity risk and salary risk.

Investment risk - The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated using a discount rate which is determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting

period on government bonds.

Interest risk - A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability;

Longevity risk - The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and after their

employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan's liability.

Salary risk - The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the future salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan

participants will increase the plan's liability.

Funding

Group's defined benefit plan is unfunded.

Reconciliation of the net defined benefit liability

a) Reconciliation of present value of defined benefit obligation

Particutars As at March 31, As at March 31,
2025 2024
Balance at the beginning of the year 219.61 169.51
Benefits paid (7.11) (4.63)
Current service cost 67.19 47.50
Interest cost 14.15 10.50
Transfer in (0.18). -
Past service cost - 0.58
Actuarial (gains) losses recognised in other comprehensive income
- changes in demographic assumptions - 0.09
-ch in financial assumptions 8.67 1.48
- experience adjustments (5.27) (5.42)
Balance at the end of the year 297.06 219.61
b) Amounts to be recognised in Consolidated Balancesheet
Peartictilins As at March 31, As at March 31,
2025 2024
Present value of obligation at the end of year 297.06 219.61
Fair value of the plan assets at the end of year (1.23) (1.14)
Net liability (295.83) (218.47)
Current liability {48.33) (31.13)
Non-current liability (247.50) (187.34)
Net liability recognised in Consolidated Balancesheet (295.83) (218.47)
¢ E to be rec ised in the C lidated Stat of Profit and Loss
For the year
Particulars Fn;nthe: ::r eaded ended March 31,
arch 31, 2025 2024
Service cost 67.19 47.50
Net interest (income)/ expense 14.15 10.50
Transfer in (0.18): -
Past service cost - 0.58
Expense to be recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 81.16 58.58

d) Actuarial gains/(losses) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

For the year

Particulars Fo;;he: ::r ::::d ended March 31,
ey 2024
Remeasurement for the year - obligation (Gain) / Loss 3.40 (3.85)
Total Remeasurements Cost / (Credit ) for the year recognised in OCI 3.40 {3.85)
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48 Assets and liabilities relating to emplovee benefits (continued)

) Changes in the Fair Value of Plan Assets

Private Limited)

For the year
For the year ended
Particulars ended March 31,
March 31, 2025 2024
Fair Value of Plan Assets as at the beginning 114 -
Investment Income 0.08 0.01
Employer's Contribution - 114
Return on plan asset, excluding amount recognised in net interest expense 0.01 {0.01)
1.23 1.14
C. Defined benefit obligation
i. Actuarial assumptions
Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date:
As at March 31, As at March 31,
Particulars 2025 2024
Plan A
Discount rate 6.50% - 6.70% 7.15%-7.20%
Future salary growth 8.00% - 15.00% 8.00% - 15.00%
Attrition rate 12.00% - 25.00% 12.00% - 25.00%

Mortality rates have been considered in accordance with the Indian Assured Lives Mortality (2012-14) ultimate (IALM ult).

ii. Sensitivity analysis

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by
the amounts shown below:

Particulars March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
Plan A
Discount rate (1% movement) 262.88 284.89 192.66 209.13
Future salary growth (1% movement) 281.07 266.12 206.36 185.02
Attrition rate (1% movement) 271.74 275.16 198.76 200.39

Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation ranged between 3.80 - 11.39 years (March 31, 2024: 3.80 - 10.10 years).The expected maturity analysis of gratuity is as

follows:

Maturity profile of defined benefit obligations

Particulars AsatMarch31, | AsatMarch31,
2025 2024
Less than 1 year 48.35 3119
Between 1-5 years 192.31 154.04
Over 5 years 298,84 242,90

=]

Compensated absences
The Group has recognised expense towards compensated absences amounting to INR 15.54 million (March 31, 2024: INR 19.59 million).

49 Business Combination

Y

made by Globalb:

Brands Private Limited

Globalbees Brands Private Limited has entered into various Share Subscription Agreement ("SSA"), Share Purchase Agreement ("SPA") and Business Transfer Agreement ("BTA") to acquire

various brands/companies. The busi combil have been effi d to benefit from our ability to create and scale brands, leverage our sourcing capabilities, our retail distribution
network, our marketing and sourcing capabilities, and our supply chain infrastructure,

Details of the purchase consideration, net assets acquired and goodwill recognised
A. Consideration transferred

The following table summarises the acquisition date fair value of each major class of consideration transferred:

Particulars Yellow Chimes
(B2B)
Type of Acquisition Business Transfer
Agreement
Date of Acquisition 07-Dec-23
Percetage stake acquired NA

Business of Subsidiary Fashion / Lifestyle

Cash Consideration Transferred 32.25

Total consideration transferred 32.25

B. Acquisition-related costs

Acquisition related cost incurred by the Group have been charged to Consolidated profit and loss account and considered in legal and professional expenses.
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49 Business Combination (continued)
C. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

The following table summarises the recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities

Particulars Yellow Chimes

(B2B)
Property, plant and equipment G5s
Other current and non-current assets 8.87

Total net identifiable assets acquired

9.12

D. Goodwill

Goodwill arising from the acquisition has been determined as follows:

Yellow Chimes

Particulars
(828)
Total consideration transferred (A) 32.25
Amount of Non-controlling interests (B) -
Fair value of net identifiable assets (C) 9.12
Goodwill (A+B-C) 23.13

Fair value of non-controlling interests is measured using discounted cash flow (DCF) technique.

The fair value of the trade receivables is equivalent to the gross amount of trade receivables. However, none of the trade receivables is credit impaired and it is expected that the full

contractual amounts can be collected.

Notes :

Goodwill comprises of acquired workforce and expected synergies arising from the material and other acquisition.
Initial Accounting of these Business Combination has been determined provisionally.

None of the gocdwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

50 Operating Segment

The Beard of Directors is the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) and monitors the cperating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on profit or loss and is measured consistently with profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm'’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on its products and services and has following reportable segments, as follows:
i) india multi-channel - This segment includes business of manufacturing, buying, selling, advertising, promoting baby and kids products in India.

ii) International segment - This includes business of buying, selling, advertising, promoting baby and kids products outside India, which primarily includes United Arab Emirates and Kingdom

of Saudi Arabia.

lii) Globalbees segment - This is a direct-to-consumer (D2C) venture that aggregates and invests in e-commerce brands and helps the brands scale and transform their digital impression.

iv) Others - This includes other businesses which are not material to the Group.

(i) yearended March 31, 2025

|Particulars Bl ! ional Globalk Others latex Company Total
channel Adjustments

Revenue from Operations 52,784.90 8,585.52 15,777.02 425.03 (976.33) 76,596.14
Segment Results befare depreciation and amortisation expense 4,996.74 (1,400.78) 220.56 103.86 14,16 3,934,54
Segment Results 2,332.91 (1,583.34) (791.30) 94.26 (163.66 (111.13)
Add / (Less) :

Finance cost (refer note 41) (1,583.26)
Employee share based payment expense (refer note 40) (1,542.46)
Other income (refer note 35) 1,504.77
Salaries, wages, bonus and other allowances accounted as per Para B55 of Ind-AS 103(refer note 39) (92.34)
Loss before tax and before exceptional items and income tax (1,824.42)
Segment Assets 78,947.34 3,498.14 24,339.87 31.97 (18,238.69) 88,578.63
Segment Liablitities 23,135.39 2,021.20 14,228.54 89.17 (3,697.75) 35,776.55
Capital Expenditure 1,930.49 5.68 118.18 0.06 - 2,054.41

(ii) yearended March 31, 2024
India multi & Inter C:
Particulars bl International Globalbees Others e oMy Total
channel Adjustments

Revenue from Operations 45,794.84 7,537.16 12,093.46 333.55 (950.45) 64,808.56
Segment Results before depreciation and amortisation expense 4,039.82 {1,395.96) 23.08 58.41 19.14 2,744.49
Segment Results 1,666.18 (1,553.77) (963.77) 47.03 (159.91) (964.24)
Add / (Less) :

Finance cost (refer note 41) (1,153.63)
Employee share based payment expense (refer note 40) (1,780.58)
Other income (refer note 35) 942.25
Salaries, wages, bonus and other allowances accounted as per Para B55S of Ind-AS 103(refer note 39) (259.00)
Loss before tax and before exceptional items and income tax (3,215.20)
Segment Assets 76,394.56 3,702.45 26,850.31 40.25 (31,883.74) 75,103.83
Segment Liablitities 29,561.04 1,821.19 14,868.21 94.93 (9,156.07) 37,189.30
Capital Expenditure 3,318.51 28.19 80.71 2.04 - 3,429.45
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Operating Seg (continued)
Information concerning principal geographic areas is as follows:
Particulars March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Within India Outside India Total Within India Outside India Total

Net sales to external customer by geographic area by location of 67,983.41 8,612.73 76,596.14 57,123.12 7,685.44 64,808.56
customer
Non Current assets b

eographical area* 41,118.36 264.65 41,383.01 42,463.80 207.45 42,671.25

* Non Current assets do not include deferred tax assets

Major Customers:
The Group has no external customer which accounts for more than 10% of the Group's total revenue for the year ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024.

Share based payments

See material accounting policy information in Note 3(f)(ii).

A. Description uf share-based payment arrangements

The Group has the following share-based payment arrangements:
Share option plans (equity-settled)

On 31 March 2011 the Holding Company established share option plans ("Brainbees Employee Stock Option Plan 2011") that entitle the employees to purchase shares in the Holding
Company. Under this plan, holders of vested options are entitled to purchase shares at 10% of the market price of the shares determined at the immediately preceding round of equity
raised by the Holding Company. All the options have a vesting condition of 25% every year over a period of 4 years and have an exercise life of 10 years

On April 1, 2019 the Holding Company established another share option plan (2019 Plan) that entitle the employees to purchase shares in the Holding Company. Under this plan, holders
of vested options are entitled to purchase shares at INR 2 per share price. The options have a vesting condition of 25% every year over a period of 4 years

On 15 October 2021, Globalbees Brands Private Limited, the subsidiary of the Holding Company, established Globalbees Employee Stock Option Plan 2021 ("Globalbees ESOP") that
entitles the employees to purchase shares in the said subsidiary. Under this plan, holders of vested options are entitled to purchase shares at INR 5 per share price. The options have a
vesting condition of 25% every year over a period of 4 years

On January 21, 2022 the Company established share option plan (BB ESOP 2022) that entitle the employees to purchase shares in the Company. Under this plan, holders of vested options
are entitled to purchase shares at INR 2 per share price, The vesting of these options is linked to certain market based conditions.

On December 16, 2023, the Holding Company establ'shed share option plans (BB ESOP 2023) that entitle the employees to purchase shares in the Holding Company. Under this plan,
holders of vested eptions are entitled to purchase shares at INR 243.72 per share price. All the options have a vesting condition over a period of 4 years

On December 16, 2023, the Holding Company established share option plans (BB ESOP 2023) that entitle the employees to purchase shares in the Hodling Company. Under this plan,
holders of vested options are entitled to purchase shares at INR 243.72 per share price. The vesting of these options is linked to certain market based conditions.

The number of instruments related to all the grants are as follows:

Grint Number of
instruments.
Grant 1 (Brainbees Employee Stock Option Plan 2011) -
Grant 2 (Brainbees Employee Stock Option Plan 2011) -
Grant 3 (Brainbees Employee Stock Option Plan 2011) -
Grant 4 (Brainbees Employee Stock Option Plan 2011) 14,895
Grant 5 (Brainbees Employee Stock Option Plan 2011) 2,825
Grant 6 (Brainbees Employee Stock Option Plan 2011) 2,310
Grant 7 (Brainbees Employee Stock Option Plan 2011) 1,060
Grant 8 (Brainbees Employee Stock Option Plan 2011) 66,596
Grant 9 (Brainbees Employee Stock Option Plan 2011) 9,000
Grant 10 (Brainbees Employee Stock Option Plan 2011) 2,64,579
Grant 11 (2019 Plan) -
Grant 12 (Brainbees Employee Stock Option Plan 2011) 68,343
Grant 13 (BB ESOP 2022) 1,81,53,410
Grant 14 (BB ESOP 2022) 4,84,584
Grant 15 (BB ESOP 2022) 20,37,046
Grant 16 (Globalbees ESOP)* 1,36,15,058
Grant 17 (BB ESOP 2022) 1,46,305
Grant 18 (BB ESOP 2022) 28,409
Grant 19 (BB ESOP 2022) 2,39,061
Grant 20 (BB ESOP 2022) 6,531
Grant 21 (BB ESOP 2022) 1,40,684
Grant 22 (BB ESOP 2023) 95,39,270
Grant 23 (BB ESOP 2023) 99,33,803
Grant 24 (BB ESOP 2023) 74,994
Total share options 5,48,28,763

*in above case, employee has been granted 10,000 options for exercising one share as per the plan.
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51 Share based payments (continued)
B. Measurement of fair values

Equity-settled share-based payment arrangements

The fair value of employee share options has been measured using Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The fair value of the options and the inputs used in the measurement of the grant-date fair values of the equity-settled share based payment plans are as follows:

March 31, 2025
Particulars Grant1 Grant2 Grant 3 Grant 4 Grant 5 Grant 6
Fair value at grant date 9.29 25.08 33.47 74.37 74.37 92.40
Share price at grant date 9.29 25.08 33.47 74.40 74.40 93.75
Exercise price 2.32 6.27 8.36 7.44 7.44 9.37
Expected volatility (weighted average volatility) 251.00% 251.00% 251.00% 251.00% 251.00% 251.00%
Expected life (expected weightad average life) 7.50 8.05 8.07 6.25 6.25 7.53
Expected dividends - - - 3 s 5
|Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) 8.30% 8.81% 8.81% 8.81% 8.81% 8.81%
Particulars Grant 7 Grant 8 Grant 9 Grant 10 Grant 11 Grant 12
Fair value at grant date 94.00 94.00 157.19 157.19 157.19 257.48
Share price at grant date 94.00 94.00 161.06 161.06 161.06 280.87
Exercise price 8.40 9.40 15.44 15.44 2.00 28.09
Expected volatility (weighted average volatility) 251% 251% 112% 112% 112% 72%
Expected life (expected weighted average life) 6.53 6.53 7.25 7.25 7.25 3.00
Expected dividends - ¥ = S = e
Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) 8.81% 8.81% 6.60% 6.60% 6.60% 4.99%
Particulars Grant 13 Grant 14 Grant 15 Grant 16 Grant 17 Grant 18
Fair value at grant date 279.71-258.78 279.90 279.90 0.16-0.51 441.07 441.20
Share price at grant date 281.58 281.58 281.58 0.00 442,81 442,81
Exercise price 2.00 2.00 2.00 0.00 2.00 2.00
Expected volatility (weighted average volatility) 68% 72% 72%)33.25% - 33.62% 57% 58%
Expected life (expected weighted average life) 1.50 3.00 3.00 2.48-3.97 225 3.00
Expected dividends - - - - - -
Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) 4.44% 5.71% 5.71% 6.36% - 6.41% 6.20% 7.06%
Particulars Grant 19 Grant 20 Grant 21 Grant 22 Grant 23 Grant 24
Fair value at grant date 485,91 - 485.92 485.91 485.92 333.16 7.73-328.60 206.46
Share price at grant date 487.53 487.53 487.53 519.10 371.65- 649 372.25
Exercise price 2.00 2.00 2,00 243.72 243,72 243,72
Expected volatility (weighted average volatility) 51.64% - 52.19% 50% 49% 46%| 10.73% - 12.58% 53%
Expected life (expected weighted average life) 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 4yrs-Byrs 3.00
Expected dividends - - - - na -
Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) 6.99% - 7.16% 7.05% 7.16% 6.76%| 6.50% - 6.729% 6.48%
March 31, 2024
Particulars Grant 1 Grant2 Grant 3 Grant 4 Grant 5
Fair value at grant date 9.29 25.08 33.47 74.37 74.37
Share price at grant date 9.29 25.08 3347 74.40 74.40
Exercise price 2.32 6.27 8.36 7.44 7.44
Expected volatility (weighted average volatility) 251.00% 251.00% 251.00% 251.00% 251.00%
Expected life (expected weighted average life) 7.50 8.05 8.07 6.25 6.25
Expected dividends - - - - -
Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) 8.30% 8.81% 8.81% 8.81% 8.81%
Particulars Grant 6 Grant 7 Grant 8 Grant 9 Grant 10
Fair value at grant date 92.40 94.00 94.00 157.19 157.19
Share price at grant date 93.75 94.00 94.00 161.06 161.06
Exercise price 9.37 9.40 9.40 15.44 15.44
Expected volatility (weighted average volatility) 251.00% 251.00% 251.00% 112.25% 112.25%
Expected life (expected weighted average life) 783 6.53 6.53 7.28 7.25
Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) 8.81% 8.81% 8.81% 6.60% 6.60%
Particulars Grant 11 Grant 12 Grant 13 Grant 14 Grant 15
Fair value at grant date 157.19 257.48 | 279.71- 258.78 279.90 279.90
Share price at grant date 161.06 280.87 281.58 281.58 281.58
Exercise price 2.00 28.09 2.00 2.00 2
Expected volatility (weighted average volatility) 112.25% 71.58% 68.38% 72.36% 72.36%
Expected life (expected weighted average life) 7.25 3.00 1.50 3.00 3.00
Expected dividends - - - - -
Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) 6.60% 4.99% 4.44% 5.71% 5.71%
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Share based payments (continued)

Solutions Private Limited)

March 31, 2024

Particulars Grant 16 Grant 17 Grant 18 Grant 19 Grant 20 Grant 21
Fair value at grant date 0.16-0.51 441.07 441.20 | 485.91 - 485.92 485.91 485.92
Share price at grant date 0.00 442.81 442,81 487.53 487.53 487.53
Exercise price 0.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00
Expected volatility (weighted average volatility) 45.00% 57.45% 57.74%| 51.64% - 52.19% 50.01% 49.21%
Expected life (expected weighted average life) 2.86t0 4.36 2,25 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00
Expected dividends = = & S - -
Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) 6.72% - 6.74% 6.20% 7.06% 6.99% - 7.16% 7.05% 7.16%
C. Reconciliation of outstanding share options
The number and weighted-average exercise prices of share optien under the share option plans are as follows:
March 31, 2025

Particulars Grant 1 Grant 2 Grant 3 Grant 4 Grant 5 Grant 6
Outstanding at April 1, 2024 . - 85,152 1,49,073 2,825 3,465
Granted during the period - - - - - -
Forfeited during the period - - - (19,000) - -
Cancelled during the period - - - < = x
Exercised during the period - (85,152) (1,15,178) - (1,155)
Outstanding at March 31, 2025 - - - 14,895 2,825 2,310
Exercisable at March 31, 2025 - - - 14,894 2,825 2,310

Particulars Grant7 Grant 8 Grant 9 Grant 10 Grant 11 Grant 12
Outstanding at April 1, 2024 65,800 1,67,570 95,699 8,55,965 = 1,12,902
Granted during the period - - - - - -
Forfeited during the period - - - - - -
Cancelled during the period - - - - - -
Exercised during the period (64,740) {1,00,974) (86,699) (5,91,386) - {44,559)
Outstanding at March 31, 2025 1,060 66,596 9,000 2,64,579 - 68,343
Exercisable at March 31, 2025 1,060 66,597 9,000 2,64,578 - 68,345

Particulars Grant 13 Grant 14 Grant 15 Grant 13 Grant 17 Grant 18
Outstanding at April 1, 2024 1,81,53,410 15,60,370 36,20,250 2,75,53,675 4,63,959 50,750
Granted during the period - - - 8,70,300 - -
Forfeited during the period - (11,157) (45,501) (1,59,62,200) (1,250) (9,219)
Cancelled during the period - - - - - -
Exercised during the period - (10,64,629) (15,37,703) - (3,16,404) (13,122)
Outstanding at March 31, 2025 1,81,53,410 4,84,584 20,37,046 1,24,61,775 1,46,305 28,409
Exercisable at March 31, 2025 1,36,15,058 4,70,604 14,48,839 66,16,125 21,761 9,840

Particulars Grant 19 Grant 20 Grant 21 Grant 22 Grant 23 Grant 24
Outstanding at April 1, 2024 2,86,042 12,875 1,82,695 - - -
Granted during the period - - - 96,61,372 99,33,803 74,994
Forfeited during the period (10,687) (4,312) (10,005) (1,22,102) - -
|Cancelled during the period - - - - - -
Exercised during the period (36,294) (2,032) (32,006) - 2 =
Outstanding at March 31, 2025 2,39,061 6,531 1,40,684 95,39,270 99,33,803 74,994
Exercisable at March 31, 2025 1,03,159 438 11,278 - - -
March 31, 2024

Particulars Grant 1 Grant 2 Grant 3 Grant 4 Grant 5
Qutstanding at April 1, 2023 = = 85,153 1,45,073 2,825
Granted during the period = - = s "
Farfeited during the period - - - - -
Cancelled during the period - - - - -
Exercised during the period - - - - -
Outstanding at March 31, 2024 - - 85,153 1,49,073 2,825
Exercisable at March 31, 2024 - - 85,153 1,49,073 2,825

Particulars Grant 6 Grant 7 Grant 8 Grant9 Grant 10
Outstanding at April 1, 2023 3,465 65,800 1,67,570 95,699 8,74,950
Granted during the period - - - - -
Forfeited during the period - - - - (18,985)
Cancelled during the period - - = = "
Exercised during the period - - = - 2
Outstanding at March 31, 2024 3,465 65,800 1,67,570 95,699 8,55,965
Exercisable at March 31, 2024 3,465 65,800 1,67,570 95,699 8,49,366
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51 Share based payments (continued)

Iy known as B

Solutions Private Limited)

March 31, 2024

Particulars Grant 11 Grant 12 Grant 13 Grant 14 Grant 15
Outstanding at April 1, 2023 - 1,17,902 1,81,53,410 16,02,925 36,95,225
Granted during the period - - - - -
Forfeited during the period = (5,000) - (42,555) {74,975)
Cancelled during the period - - = - -
Exercised during the period - - - - -
Outstanding at March 31, 2024 - 1,12,902 1,81,53,410 15,60,370 36,20,250
Exercisable at March 31, 2024 - 87,736 - 11,74,013 23,99,956

Particulars Grant 16 Grant 17 Grant 18 Grant 19 Grant 20 Grant 21
Outstanding at April 1, 2023 3,19,75,975 4,64,898 53,750 - - -
Granted during the period 18,71,400 3,19,766 15,875 1,92,583
Forfeited during the peried (62,93,700) (939) (3,000) (33,725) (3,000) (9,888)
Cancelled during the period - - - - - -
Exercised during the period - - - - - -
Outstanding at March 31, 2024 2,75,53,675 4,63,959 50,750 2,86,042 12,875 1,82,695
Exercisable at March 31, 2024 1,29,15,242 2,21,261 12,688 71,260 - -
Weighted average exercise price for:

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
i March 31, 2025 o March 31, 2024 =

Particulars arcl Grant 16) arch 31, 20: (Grant 16)
Outstanding as at the beginning of the year 2,73 0.00 2.75 0.00
Granted during the year 243.72 0.00 2.00 0.00
Forfeited during the year 128.99 0.00 4.01 0.00
Cancelled during the year . - = «
Exercised during the year 5.10 5 2 i
Outstanding at the end of the year 116.80 0.00 273 0.00
Exercisable at end of the year 2.38 0.00 5.36 0.00

52 Fair value measurements

A Accounting classifications and fair values

Fair value of cash and short-term deposits, trade and other short term receivables, trade payables and other current financial liabilities approximates their carrying amounts largely due to
short term maturities of these instruments. The carrying amount of borrowings is a reasonable approximation of its fair value or amortised cost.

The following table shows carrying amount and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy:

As at March 31, 2025
|
Particulars Carrying Amortised Cost Fakevalue
amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets
Security deposits 573.06 573.06 - - =
Bank deposits 785.73 785.73 - - -
Investments 50.13 50.08 0.05 - =
Trade receivables 2,825.16 2,825.16 - = -
Cash and cash equivalents 2,711.72 2,711.72 - - -
Other bank balances 14,344.01 14,344.01 - - -
Leoans 0.21 0.21 - # -
Other financial assets 800.60 800.60 - . -
Total financial assets 22,090.62 22,090.57 0.05 - =
Financial liabilities
Borrowings 5,532.69 5,532.69 - - -
Lease liability 10,166.60 10,166.60
Trade payables 9,276.51 9,276.51 - - -
Other non-current financial liabilities 1,053.18 1,053.18 - - -
Other current financial liabilities 4,062.84 4,062.84 - - -
Total financial liabilities 30,091.82 30,091.82 - - -
As at March 31, 2024
Particulars Carrying Amortised Cost Falr.valtie
amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets
Security deposits 557.15 557.15 - - -
Bank deposits 111.14 111.14 - - -
Investments 50.15 50,08 0.07 . ]
Trade receivables 2,184.07 2,184.07 - - -
Cash and cash equivalents 3,616.96 3,616.96 - - -
Other bank balances 3,120.91 3,120.91 - - -
Loans 360.82 360.82 - - -
Other financial assets 1,069.82 1,069.82 = - -
[Total financial assets 11,071.02 11,070.95 0.07 - -
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52 Fair value measurements (continued)

As at March 31, 2024

Particula Carryi Amortised Cost Fode velue

i FyNIG AT el Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial liabilities

Borrowings 4,627.22 4,627.22 - - -
Lease liability 9,598.25 9,598.25

Trade payables 9,075.46 9,079.46 - - -
Other non-current financial liabilities 7,085.52 7,085.52 - - -
Other current financial liabilities 1,268.23 1,268.23 - - -
Total financial liabilities 31,658.68 31,658.68 - - =

The fair value of financial instruments as referred to in note above have been classified into three categories depending on the inputs used in the valuation technique. The hierarchy gives
the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).

There are no transfers in either direction during the years ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024

53 Related party transactions
A) Name of the related parties and nature of relationship
(i) where control exists :

‘Wholly owned subsidiaries

1. Intellibees Solutions Private Limited
2. Firstery Management DWC- LLC

3. Shenzhen Starbees Services Ltd

4, Joybees Private Limited

5. Digital Age Retail Private Limited

Other Subsidiaries

1. Swara Baby Products Private Limited
2. Firmroots Private Limited

3. Solis Hygiene Private Limited

4. Globalbees Brands Private Limited

Step down subsidiaries

1. Firstcry Retail DWC - LLC

2. Firstcry Trading Company

3. Firstcry General Trading LLC

4. Merhaki Foods and Nutrition Private Limited
5. Maxinique Solutions Private Limited

6. Better and Brighter Homecare Private Limited
7. Eyezen Technologies Private Limited

8, Cloud Lifestyle Private Limited

9. HealthyHey Foods LLP

10. Butternut Ventures Private Limited

11. Dynamic IT Solution Private Limited

12. Kubermart Private Limited

13. Mush Textiles Private Limited

14. Globalbees Brands DWC LLC

15. HS Fitness Private Limited

16. DF Pharmacy Limited

17. Candes Technology Private Limited

18. Solarista Renewables Private Limited

19. Encasa Homes Private Limited
20. Frootle India Private Limited
21. Prayosha Expo Private Limited
22. Wellspire India Private Limited
23. Plantex E-Commerce Private Limited

24, JW Brands Private Limited
25. Kitchenopedia Appliances Private Limited
26. Swara Hygiene Private Limited

Other Entities where control exists

1. Edubees Educational Trust
2. Brainbees ESOP Trust

Other Related Parties:

i. Entities having significant influence
1. SVF Frog (Cayman) Limited
2. Mahindra & Mahindra Limited

ii. Key management personnel

1. Mr. Supam Maheshwari - Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer.

2. Mr. Amitava Saha - Non-executive Director (till December 26, 2023)

3. Mr. Zhooben Dossabhoy Bhiwandiwala - Non-executive Director (till April 12, 2023)
4. Mr. Amit Gupta - Non-executive Director (till December 26, 2023)
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53 Related party transactions (continued)

B) Other Related Parties:

ii. Key management personnel

5 Mr. Paul Alexander Davison - Non-executive Director (till October 21, 2024)
6 Mr. Akshay Tanna - Non-executive Director (till May 24, 2023}
7 Mr. Atul Gupta - Non-executive Director (till December 26, 2023}
8 Mr. Vikas Agnihotri - Non-executive Director (till December 26, 2023)
9 Ms, Bala C Deshpande - Non executive & Independent Director
10 Mr. Gopalakrishnan Jagadeeswaran - Non executive & Independent Director
11 Mr. Neeraj Sagar - Non executive & Independent Director
12 Mr. Sanket Hattimattur - Executive Director & Chief of Staff (resigned from the position of Chief of Staff w.e.f March 31, 2025 and is associated with the Company in the capacity of Non-
Executive Director w.e.f April 01, 2025)
13 Ms. Sujata Vilas Bogawat - Non executive & Independent Director
14 Mr. Puneet Renjhen - Non-executive Director (w.e.f April 24, 2023 till December 26, 2023, re-appointed w.e.f July 10, 2024)
15 Mr, Simit Batra - Non-executive Director (till December 26, 2023)
16 Mr. Gautam Sharma - Chief Financial Officer
17 Ms. Neha Surana - Company Secretary & Compliance Officer (w.e.f March 25, 2025)
18 Ms. Neelam Jethani - Company Secretary & Compliance Officer (till March 15, 2025)

| Related Party transaction

Particulars March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Short-term employee benefits and share-based payment

Mr, Supam Maheshwari 587.18 1,038.54
Mr. Sanket Hatimattur (w.e.f May 5, 2022 till March 31, 2025) 72.63 113.22
Mr. Gautam Sharma 54.38 21.60
Ms. Neelam Jethani (w.e.f December 16, 2022 till March 15, 2025) 203 3.77
Ms. Neha Surana (w.e.f March 25, 2025) 0.08 -

Remuneration and Sitting Fees to Independent Directors

Mr. Gopalakrishnan Jagadeeswaran 2.56 0.67
Mrs Bala C Deshpande 1.94 0.51
Mr. Neeraj Sagar 202 0.62
Mrs Sujata Vilas Bogawat 198 0.40

Transactions with Key management personnel

Interest Income on loan to Mr. Gautam Sharma - 7.39

*Remuneration to key management personnel includes short term employment benefits, Share based payments accrual and excludes provisions for gratuity, compensated absences and
other long term employment benefit which have been actuarially determined and the amounts pertaining to the KMP are not material.

Il Outstanding balances with related parties

Particulars March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Balances ling with Key N B Personnel
Loan to Mr. Gautam Sharma s 84.06
Payable to Independent Directors 4.90 -
Mahindra & Mahindra Limited
Receivable/(Advance) for sale of products 3.45 3.45

All transactions with these related parties are priced on an arm’s length basis.
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Notes to C idated Financial St
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55 Financial instr - Risk nent

Financial risk management

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:
i) credit risk;

ii) liquidity risk; and

iii) market risk.

i. Risk management framework

The Holding Company's board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management framework. The senior management is for developing
and monitoring the Group's risk r 1t policies. The r reports regularly to the board of directors on its activities.

The Group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to
limits, Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group's activities. The Group, through its training and management
standards and procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

fi.. Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counter party to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group's
receivables from customers

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. Hi Y also iders the factors that may influence the credit risk of
its customer base, including the default risk associated with the industry and country in which customers operate.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows. The Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

Credit risk exposure

Provision for expected credit losses

In respect to other financial assets, the Group follows a 12-months expected credit loss approach. The management does not foresee a material loss on account of credit risk due to the nature
and credit worthiness of these financial assets. Further, the Group has not observed any material defaults in recovering such financial assets except trade receivables and hence the Group has
not provided for credit impairment of these financial assets. The Group has provided for expected credit loss on trade receivables as follows.

Trade and other receivables

Particulars Estimated gross Expected Expected credit | Carrying amount
carrying amount | probability of losses net of
at default default impairment
March 31, 2025 2,915.76 3.11% (90.60) 2,825.16
March 31, 2024 2,272.96 3.91% {88.89] 2,184.07

Expected credit loss for trade receivables under simplified approach

As at March 31, the Group has certain trade receivables that have not been settled by the contractual due date but are not considered to be impaired. The amounts as at March 31, analysed by
the length of time past due, are:

March 31, 2025

Particulars Estimated gross Expected Expected credit | Carrying amount
carrying amount probability of losses net of
at default default impairment
orovision
Not due 644.86 0.00% " 644,86
Not more than 6 months 2,095.82 0.30% (6.32) 2,089.50
More than 6 menths 175.10 48.13% (84.28) 90.82
March 31, 2024
Particulars Estimated gross Expected Expected credit | Carrying amount
carrying amount probability of losses net of
at default default impairment
Fiba
Not due 275.34 0.03% (0.07) 275.27
Not more than & months 1,528.33 0.57% (8.70) 1,519.63
More than 6 months 469.29 17.07% (80.12) 389.17

Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited as the Group generally invests in deposits with banks and financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned by domestic credit rating
agencies.

All of the Group's loans at amortised cost are considered to have low credit risk, and the loss allowance, if any, is limited to 12 months' expected losses. Management considers instruments to
be low credit risk when they have a low risk of default and the borrower has a strong ity to meet its ual cash flow obligations in the near term.
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55 Financial instruments - Risk management (continued)
fil. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The
Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions,
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation. The management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity position on the basis of expected cash
flows.

Exposure to liquidity risk

The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date. The amounts are gross and undiscounted, and include contractual interest payments.

March 31, 2025
Contractual cash flows
Particulars Carrying amount Less than 1 year 1- 3years More than 3
years
Borrowings 5,532.69 3,292.26 1,601.04 646.92
Lease Liabilities 10,166.60 2,223.89 4,362.14 7.479.07
Trade payables 9,276.51 9,275.51 - -
Other financial liabilities 5,116.02 6,104.58 2,050.01 -
March 31, 2024
Contractual cash flows
Particulars Carrying amount More than 3
Ve Less than 1 year 1- 3 years
years
Borrowings 4,627.22 2,400.25 1,915.68 324.48
Lease Liabilities 9,598.25 2,027.72 3,839.04 7,702.67
Trade payables 9,079.46 9,079.46 - -
Other financial liabilities 8,353.75 5,398.57 3,158.66 749.26

iv. Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the Group's income or the value of its holdings of financial
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Currency risk

The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk is limited as majority of the tr; ions are in its functional currency. As at the balance-sheet date, the Group had following foreign currency
exposures which have not been hedged by any derivative financial instruments as they are not material.
P March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
articulars
Foreign currency Rupees Foreign currency Rupees

Trade and Other Payable - USD (2.49) (213.08) (432) (360.44)

Trade and Other Payable - EURO {0.02) (1.96) (0.04) (3.41)

Trade and Other Receivable - USD 2.06 177.04 0.64 54.35

Trade and Other Receivable - CNY - - 0.34 3.94

Total (38.00) (305.56)

Foreign Currency Sensitivity analysis:

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in the Rupees against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates an
increase in profit and equity where the Rupee strengthens 5% against the relevant currency. For a 5% weakening of the Rupee against the relevant currency, there would be a comparable
impact on the profit & equity and the balances below would be negative.

|Particulars Impact on profit before tax and
equity
March 31,2025 | March 31, 2024
USD sensitivity
USD/INR -Increase by 5% (1.80) (15.30)
USD/INR -Decrease by 5% 1.80 15.30
EURO sensitivity
EURO/INR -Increase by 5% (0.10) (0.17)]
EURO/INR -Decrease by 5% 0.10 0.17
CNY sensitivity
CNY/INR -Increase by 5% - 0.20
CNY/INR -Decrease by 5% - (0.20)

Interest rate risk

The Group's borrowings carry a fixed rate of interest and are measured at amortised cost. They are, therefore, not subject to interest rate risk as defined in IND AS 107, since neither the
carrying amount nor the future cash flows will fluctuate due to change in market interest rates.
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56 Capital Management

The Group's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and other stakeholders' confidence and to sustain future development of the business. In order to
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new share or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital using a ratio of 'net debt' 'equity’. For this purpose, net debt is defined as total liabilities, comprising interest-bearing loans
and borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and other bal with banks. Equity comprises all components of equity attributable to the owners of Holding Company.

The group strategy is to maintain a gearing ratio less than 1.50x. The gearing ratio at year end is as follows:

Particulars March 31,2025 | March 31,2024
Net Debt (as defined above) (11,523.04) (2,110.65)
Equity attributable to the owners 47,414.24 31,707.36
Gearing ratio (0.24) (0.07)

57 The Code on Social Security, 2020 (‘Code’) relating to employee benefits during employment and post-employment benefits received Presidential assent in September 2020. The Code has been
published in the Gazette of India. However, the date on which the Code will come into effect has not been notified. The Company will assess the impact of the Code when it comes into effect
and will record any related impact in the period when the Code becomes effective.

58 Other Statutory infi quired by schedule Il to the C: ies Act, 2013

a) The Group does not have any benami property held in its name. No proceedings have been initiated on or are pending against the Group for holding benami property under the Benami
Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 (45 of 1988) and Rules made thereunder.

b) The Group does not have any charges or satisfaction which is yet to be registered with the ROC beyond the statutory period.

¢) The Group has not traded or invested in Crypto currency or virtual currency.

d) The Group does not have any transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income in the tax assessment under the Income Tax Act,
1961 (such as search or survey or any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961.)

e) The Group has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or government or any government authority.

f) The Group has not entered into any scheme of arrangement which has an accounting impact on all the years presented in these Consolidated Financial its.

g) The Group has not advanced or loaned or invested funds to any other person(s) or entity (ies), including foreign entities (intermediaries) with the understanding that the intermediary shall :
1) Directly or indirectly lend or invest in other person (s) or entities identified in any manner whatsoever on behalf of the Company (ultimate beneficiaries)
I1) Provide any guarantee, any securities or the like to or on behalf of the ultimate beneficiaries.

h) The Group has not received any fund from any person (s) or entity (ies), including foreign entities (Funding party) with the understanding (whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that the
group shall :

a) Directly or indirectly lend or invest in other person (s) or entities identified in any manner whatsoever on behalf of the Group (ultimate beneficiaries)
b} Provide any guarantee, any securities or the like to or on behalf of the ultimate beneficiaries.
i) The Group has not revalued any of its property, plants and equipments including Right of Use asset and intangible assets,

j) The Group has no transactions with any struck off company.

k) The Group does not have any immovable property whose title deeds are not held in the name of the Group except those held under lease arrangements for which lease agreements are duly
executed in the favour of the Group.

1) The Group is in compliance with the number of layers prescribed under Clause (87) of Section 2 of the Companies Act read with the Companies (Restriction on number of Layers) Rules, 2017

59 Exceptional items (net)

For the year For the year
Particulars ended March 31, | ended March 31,
2025 2024
Loss due to fire at warehouse (refer note (i) below) 128.16 =
Bad debts (refer note (ii) below) 107.01 -
Impact of Impairment of intangible assets and gain on remeasurement of liabilities at fair value {refer note (iii) below) 235.19 -
Others 25.17 =
Exceptional items (net) (C=A-B) 495.53 -

(i) A fire at warehouses of the Group destroyed the entire inventory and property, plant and equipment therein during the year. The Group has recognised a net loss of Rs 128.16
millions for the year ended March 31, 2025, net of the insurance claims for such incidents.

(i) Based on a one off / non-recurring event, a subsidiary has written off Rs 107.01 million trade receivables. This adjustment is not reflective of the Group’s ongoing operations or
credit practices.

(iii) The Group has reviewed carrying value of intangible assets and has recognised impairment loss of Rs. 1,971.72 million (net of tex effect). Further, the Group has also reviewed the
fair valuation of consideration payable to selling shareholders of certain subsidiaries. Based on actual performance and future projections, the Group has reassessed the financial
liability and the resultant gain amounting to Rs 1,736.53 million has been recognised as exceptional item.
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60 The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) has prescribed a new requirement for companies under the proviso to Rule 3(1) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 inserted by the
Companies (Accounts) Amendment Rules 2021 requiring companies, which uses accounting software for maintaining its books of account, shall use only such accounting software
which has a feature of recording audit trail of each and every transaction, creating an edit log of each change made in the books of account aleng with the date when such changes
were made and ensuring that the audit trail cannot be disabled.

The Holding Company and its subsidiary companies incorporated in India have used accounting software for maintaining their respective books of account, which have a feature of

recording audit trail (edit log) facility and the same have operated throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the respective software, except for the instances
mentioned below:

Nature of instance Details of instances
Instances of accounting software for maintaining books of account for which the feature of recording |The audit trail (edit logs) was not retained for the period April 1, 2024 to
audit trail (edit log) facility was not operated throughout the year for all relevant t i ded in |June 12, 2024 at the application and database level for the accounting

the software software to log any direct data changes used for maintenance of records of

the Holding Company and one subsidiaryy company.

Instances of accounting software maintained by a third party where we are unable to comment on the |The accounting software used for maintenance of records of three
audit trail feature at database level bsidiaries is operated by a third-party software service provider. In the
absence of any information on existence of audit trail (edit logs) for any
direct changes made at the database level in the ‘Independent Service
Auditor’s Assurance Report on the Description of Controls, their Design and
Operating Effectiveness’ (Type 2 report’ issued in accordance with SAE
3402, Assurance Reports on Controls at a Service Organization), we and
respective auditors of the above referred subsidiaries are unable to
comment on whether audit trail feature with respect to the database of the
said software was enabled and operated throughout the year.

Instances of accounting software for maintaining books of account for which the feature of recording |The accounting software used for maintenance of records of one subsidiary
audit trail (edit log) facility was operated throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the |did not capture the audit trail (edit log) details of a branch from April 1,
software with an exception in relation to maintaining books of account with respect to branch 2024 to December 4, 2024.

Instances of non-preservation of the audit trail The audit trail pertaining to financial year from April 1, 2024 to March 31,

2025 have not been preserved for one subsidiary as per the statutory
requirements for record retention.
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